Figure 1 Steps Prevalence of Noncommunicable Disease Risk Factors in THE REPUBLIC OF AZERBAIJAN 2017

WHO EUROPEAN OFFICE FOR THE PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES









STEPS PREVALENCE OF NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASE RISK FACTORS IN THE REPUBLIC OF AZERBAIJAN 2017

WHO EUROPEAN OFFICE FOR THE PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES



World Health Organization

Europe





Abstract

Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) are the principal cause of morbidity, disability and premature mortality in Azerbaijan. The most effective way to reduce the NCD burden is to prevent NCD development, by addressing the behavioural risk factors underlying NCDs at the population and individual levels: smoking, alcohol use, excessive salt intake, low physical activity, overweight and obesity, and unhealthy diets.

In Azerbaijan, a national survey of the prevalence of major NCD risk factors, aligned with the WHO-endorsed STEPwise approach to surveillance (STEPS) methodology, was conducted in 2017. The survey results will allow an objective view of the current situation regarding the prevalence of NCD risk factors in the adult population of the country to be formed and will determine approaches to NCD prevention and control over the coming years.

Keywords

Noncommunicable diseases Physical activity Risk factors Obesity Azerbaijan Blood pressure Tobacco Cholesterol Alcohol drinking Cardiovascular disease Diet

WHO/EUR0:2021-4673-44436-62812 © World Health Organization 2021

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition: STEPS: prevalence of noncommunicable disease risk factors in the Republic of Azerbaijan – 2017. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2021".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. STEPS: prevalence of noncommunicable disease risk factors in the Republic of Azerbaijan – 2017. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2021. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps. who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who. int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.



Contents

Preface	viii
Acknowledgements	x
Abbreviations	xi
List of contributors	xii
Executive summary	xiv
1. Background	1
1.1 Noncommunicable diseases worldwide	1
1.2 NCDs in the Republic of Azerbaijan	2
1.3 Prevalence of NCD risk factors in the Republic of Azerbai	ijan 3
2. Survey goal and objectives	5
2.1 Survey goal	5
2.2 Survey objectives	5
2.3 Rationale for the survey	5
3. Survey methodology	7
3.1 The STEPS approach	7
3.2 Sampling procedure	8
3.3 WHO STEPS Instrument and data collection	9
3.4 Data downloading and analysis	10
3.5 Ethical considerations	10
4. Survey results	11
4.1 Demographic indicators	11
4.2 Tobacco use	13
4.3 Alcohol consumption	18
4.4 Diet	22
4.5 Physical activity	27
4.6 History of raised blood pressure	30
4.7 History of diabetes	32
4.8 History of raised cholesterol	34

	4.9 History of CVD	35
	4.10 Lifestyle advice	35
	4.11 Cervical cancer screening	36
	4.12 Physical measurements	37
	4.13 Biochemical measurements	42
	4.14 CVD risk	46
	4.15 Summary of combined risk factors	48
	4.16 Mental health/suicide	49
	4.17 Violence and injury	50
5.	Discussion	52
	5.1 Tobacco	52
	5.2 Alcohol	52
	5.3 Diet	53
	5.4 Dietary salt	53
	5.5 Physical activity	54
	5.6 Cervical cancer screening	54
	5.7 Overweight and obesity	55
	5.8 Raised BP (hypertension)	55
	5.9 Raised blood glucose (diabetes mellitus)	56
	5.10 Abnormal lipids	56
	5.11 CVD risk and history of CVDs	56
	5.12 Combined risk factors	57
	5.13 Injuries	57
6.	Recommended actions	58

References

61

vii



Preface

Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) are the leading cause of mortality worldwide and Azerbaijan is no exception. The main social and economic burden of NCDs is caused by four diseases: cardiovascular disease (CVD), diabetes, cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. All of these lead to long-term incapacity, reduced family well-being and lower productivity, and they also impose a major burden on a country's health-care system and society in general. Addressing the NCD burden constitutes an integral part of achieving United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 3 (SDG 3) – "Good Health and Well-Being". The target set in SDG 3 is to reduce premature mortality from NCDs, through prevention and treatment, by one third by 2030.

NCDs in Azerbaijan are the cause of 89% of all deaths, over 60% of which are attributable to CVDs. NCDs are the cause of 80% of years lived with disability. Major NCD risk factors in Azerbaijan are tobacco, high blood pressure and dietary issues, with a particularly high burden of disease due to tobacco and raised blood pressure among males. The country is off track in reducing raised blood pressure in both males and females, with levels remaining significantly higher than the average for the WHO European Region. Overweight and obesity in both sexes are increasing steeply and significantly off target, having now reached the average level for the Region. The situation with respect to NCD risk factors affects average life expectancy in Azerbaijan, which is 73 years (70.5 for men, 75.5 for women) –lower than the WHO European Region average.

Relatively high mortality in the working-age population is a major reason for the decreased level of life expectancy. The life expectancy of men of working age is significantly lower than in western and central Europe. In particular, the risk of premature death between 30 and 70 years in Azerbaijan is about 30%, while in neighbouring Turkey it is 22% and in western European countries it does not exceed 15%.

Azerbaijan, like most other European countries, is characterized by a significant prevalence of NCD risk factors, which are responsible for the critical health indicators seen among the Azerbaijani population. While Azerbaijan recently (in 2011 and 2016) conducted two nationally representative surveys of the main NCD risk factors, which contained elements of the standardized methodology for measuring prevalence of these risk factors, they still did not allow full comparisons to be made between Azerbaijan and other countries. Absence of a fully standardized approach to surveillance of NCD risk factors has hindered the adoption of evidence-informed decisions that could potentially improve the health situation in the country. Fragmentary studies of individual risk factors have revealed only the tip of the iceberg that the NCD burden represents.

The Azerbaijan National Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Non-Communicable Diseases 2015–2020, signed by the president of Azerbaijan in December 2015 and developed on the basis of the European Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases and the Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of NCDs, has finally brought the issue to a head, emphasizing the necessity of conducting high-quality surveillance of NCD risk factors at the national level among different age and gender groups. The availability of such data from standardized surveillance surveys of NCD risk factors will allow the current situation to be assessed and measures to enhance the health of the population, including improved access to prevention services, to be proposed. It will also facilitate monitoring of progress towards the defined goals, including achieving universal health coverage as one of the core priorities set by the WHO Regional Office for Europe in its European Programme of Work.

As the STEPS survey was fully conducted in Azerbaijan for the first time, it was mainly aimed at obtaining baseline information on the main NCD risk factors, both behavioural and biological. The country included some additional questions related to mental health, violence and injury. In this way, the information obtained can serve as a starting point for monitoring NCD risk factors in Azerbaijan over the years ahead, allowing the effectiveness of the National Strategy implementation to be monitored. At the same time, the study results make it possible to compare the prevalence of NCD risk factors in Azerbaijan with those of other countries and thus to choose the most effective preventive interventions for Azerbaijan on the basis of the best international practices.

As the prevalence of NCD risk factors has now been determined through the STEPS survey, evidence-based data are available to help set priorities and plan necessary interventions and actions to ingrain healthy attitudes among the Azerbaijani people over the coming years. At the same time, this initiative highlights once again the necessity of raising public awareness of healthy lifestyles; developing and implementing integrated policies of urban planning and nutrition; expanding international cooperation to learn best practices for tackling NCDs; promoting training and education for health-care workers at all levels (with a focus on primary health care); and distributing sectoral funding efficiently to assist NCD prevention and control.

By implementing its STEPS survey, Azerbaijan has fulfilled one of the most important commitments made in 2018 by heads of state and governments at the United Nations General Assembly's Third High-level Meeting on the Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases.

We would like to take this opportunity to invite all of you to read through the results of this important survey and to think deeply how all of us – as individuals, as a team, as an organization, as a community – can lead the way in conducting the research and advancing the work needed to protect and promote population health.



Acknowledgements

On behalf of the national research team at the Public Health and Reforms Centre of the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Azerbaijan, we would like to thank Dr Zakiyya Mustafayeva and the whole Ministry of Health team and all the doctors and nurses in the regions of Azerbaijan who worked so hard to help us reach out to respondents, perform all necessary measurements, and raise awareness of noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) among population groups throughout the survey.

We are grateful to Dr João Breda and Dr Bente Mikkelsen of the WHO Regional Office for Europe for their trust in us to initiate and successfully complete the STEPS survey in Azerbaijan, and to Dr Kamran Garaxanov and his wonderful team at the WHO Country Office in Azerbaijan for their tremendous support, which enabled us to achieve all the objectives of this interesting STEPS survey of NCD risk factors in Azerbaijan.

Our special thanks go to Dr Ivo Rakovac, Dr Enrique Loyola, Dr Martin W. Weber, Dr Stefan Savin and the whole team of the WHO European Office for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases in the Russian Federation for their help and cooperation and for sharing their experience and best practices which helped us to successfully organize the STEPS survey in Azerbaijan.

This publication and the activities associated with it were funded through a grant from the Government of the Russian Federation in the context of the WHO European Office for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases.

Abbreviations

BMI	body mass index
BP	blood pressure
bpm	beats per minute
CI	confidence interval
CVD	cardiovascular disease
DBP	diastolic blood pressure
DHS	Demographic and Health Survey
GYTS	Global Youth Tobacco Survey
HDL	high-density lipoprotein
IFG	impaired fasting glycaemia (glucose)
mmol/L	millimoles per litre
NCD	noncommunicable disease
SBP	systolic blood pressure
SSC	State Statistical Committee





List of contributors

Participating organizations

Ministry of Health of the Republic of Azerbaijan World Health Organization State Statistical Committee of the Republic of Azerbaijan Local authorities of all districts of the Republic of Azerbaijan

Implementing organization

Public Health and Reforms Centre of the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Azerbaijan

Project coordinators

Jeyhun Mammadov Rauf Mammadov Rahib Mammadov Nabil Seyidov Sabina Babazade

Supervisors

Lutfi Gafarov Tofig Musayev Farah Mammadova

Project team members

Sabuhi Abdullayev Nijat Rustamli Narmin Aliyeva Elnara Nuriyeva

Statistical analyst

Hagverdiyev Gahraman

Report compiled by

Hagverdiyev Gahraman Mehdiyev Samir Sergey Bychkov Natalia Fedkina Artyom Gil Ivo Rakovac

WHO staff

Enrique Loyola Stefan Savin Ivo Rakovac

Data collectors

Sevinc Zeynalli Jamilia Huseynova Matanat Garakhanova Sevinj Babayeva Letafet Dadashova Zemfira Seyidova Arzu Suleymanova Tural Habibov Safada Tagiyeva Zumrud Kazimova Zarina Kalantarli Shahla Babayeva Dilshad Mahmudova Gadir Gurbanov Sevil Aliyarova Leyla Zeynallova Farid Israfilzada Nurana Kelbiyeva Irada Abbasova Inara Makayeva Afat Mammadova Rufat Rahimov Teymur Huseynov





Executive **summary**



The Ministry of Health of the Republic of Azerbaijan, with the technical and financial support of WHO and other partners, conducted a STEPS (Stepwise approach to surveillance) survey in 2017. The WHO STEPS approach focuses on obtaining core data on the established risk factors that determine the major noncommunicable disease (NCD) burden. This approach to chronic disease risk factor surveillance provides an entry point for the country to get started on activities related to such surveillance.

The STEPS approach consists of three sequential steps that lead to collection of data on NCD risk factors.

Step 1 uses a questionnaire to gather data on demographic information and behavioural measurements. The questions focus on tobacco use, alcohol consumption, diet, physical activity, history of raised blood pressure (BP), history of diabetes, history of raised total cholesterol, history of cardiovascular disease (CVD), lifestyle advice, and cervical cancer screening for women.

Step 2 comprises physical measurements of BP, height, weight, waist circumference and heart rate.

Step 3 comprises biochemical measurements focusing mainly on blood glucose and blood lipids.

The main findings of STEPS 2017, the second NCD risk factor survey in the Republic of Azerbaijan, were as follows.

• The prevalence of tobacco use, both smoked and smokeless products combined, was 24.0%. Overall, 48.8% of men were estimated to be current smokers – 47.2% daily smokers, 1.6% non-daily smokers. Only 0.2% of women reported smoking at the time of the interview. The percentage of current male smokers was higher in the younger age group (49.3%) than the older age group (47.8%). There was a slight difference in the percentage of current male smokers in urban and rural areas (49.2% versus 48.3%). Men started smoking, on average, at 18.7 years, with almost no difference between age groups. The mean duration of smoking among male daily smokers was 20.4 years; it was higher for older respondents than younger ones (33.9 years versus 13.1 years). 95.1% of daily smokers reported using manufactured cigarettes; the mean number of manufactured cigarettes smoked per day by daily smokers was 18.9 for all age groups. Of currently smoking male respondents, 49.5% had tried to give up in the last year. Nearly a quarter of respondents at home (24.9%) and about one in five in the workplace (18.3%) had been exposed to second-hand smoke in the 30 days preceding the survey.

- Of all survey respondents, 29.7% reported that they had consumed an alcoholic drink at some time in their lives; the remaining 70.3% were lifetime abstainers. Current drinkers (those who had consumed alcohol over the past 30 days) were almost exclusively male 27.6% (as opposed to 0.8% of females). 11.0% of men reported that they had consumed six or more drinks ("heavy episodic drinking") at least once in the previous 30 days. Male current drinkers had consumed, on average, 3.6 drinks per drinking occasion over the past 30 days.
- Consumption of fruits and vegetables was generally low: respondents consumed, on average, fruits on 5.1 days in a typical week and vegetables on 5.9 days. Consumption of both fruits and vegetables was more frequent among older respondents. Only 24.1% of respondents consumed five servings of fruits and/or vegetables a day (the daily minimum for an adult recommended by WHO). Female respondents consumed fruits and vegetables more frequently than men, and urban residents more frequently than their rural counterparts. About 26% of respondents reported that they always or often added salt before or while eating. On average, Azerbaijani people consumed 10 g of salt per day, almost double the WHO-recommended level of 5 g per day; there was a significant gender difference in mean salt intake 11.4 g per day for men and 8.6 g per day for women.
- Almost one in five individuals (19%) did not meet the level of physical activity for health recommended by WHO. There was no noticeable difference between age groups and genders, but there was a visible difference between rural and urban populations, with a higher proportion of the latter failing to meet WHO recommendations. The median duration of all physical activity carried out daily by all respondents was 128.6 minutes – 145.7 minutes for men and 120 minutes for women. 91.4% of women did not engage in any vigorous physical activity (as opposed to 71.9% of men).
- Only about one in 10 women (11.3%) aged 30–49 years had ever had a screening test for cervical cancer.
- More than half the respondents reported that they had received healthy lifestyle advice from a doctor or health worker over the past three years related to physical activity and diet (intake of salt, fat, fruits and vegetables). A third of the population was advised to quit smoking and reduce consumption of sugary beverages, and almost half were advised to maintain a healthy body weight or to lose weight.







respondents aged 40–69 years with a 10-year cardiovascular risk



- Mean BMI of the study population was 26.0 kg/m² and was higher for women (26.4 kg/m²) than for men (25.5 kg/m²). It was also higher in the older age group of respondents and among rural residents. In terms of BMI classification, over half the population (55.4%) were overweight (BMI > 25.0 kg/m²) and 20.6% were obese (BMI > 30.0 kg/m²). The prevalence of overweight and obesity tended to increase with age. In both age groups, the proportion of overweight or obese respondents was higher for women than for men. Mean waist circumference was greater in men than in women (excluding pregnant women) 92.3 cm versus 88.2 cm.
- Mean systolic blood pressure (SBP) in the survey population was 125.9 mmHg, with higher values found in men (127.0 mmHg). Mean diastolic blood pressure (DBP) was 81.2 mmHg, with slight differences between the sexes. 33.1% of respondents reported that their BP had never been measured. The prevalence of arterial hypertension (SBP > 140 mmHg and/or DBP > 90 mmHg or currently on medication for raised BP) in the entire sample was 29.7%. 65.4% of respondents with raised BP were not taking any medication, with the proportion of men (72.0%) higher than that of women (59.2%).
- Of the survey population, 71.8% had never had their blood glucose measured. The prevalence of diabetes diagnosed within the preceding 12 months was 4.2% (men 3.1%, women 5.3%), while 0.5% of respondents had been diagnosed but not within the past 12 months. Mean fasting plasma glucose was 4.6 mmol/L, with no differences between men and women. The prevalence of impaired fasting glycaemia (IFG) (>6.1 mmol/L and <7.0 mmol/L) was 5.0% (men 5.0%, women 4.9%); for all respondents, it was almost twice as high in urban areas as in rural areas. The prevalence of diabetes mellitus (fasting plasma glucose > 7.0 mmol/L or taking antidiabetic medication), for all respondents, was 6.5% (women significantly higher than men – 7.9% versus 5.2%).
- About one in four individuals (26.9%) had a raised total cholesterol level
 (> 5 mmol/L or taking medication for hypercholesterolemia), with the proportion of women (31.3%) higher than that of men (22.3%).
- The percentage of respondents aged 40–69 years with a 10-year cardiovascular risk ≥30% or with existing CVD was 12.6% 13.3% for men and 12.0% for women.
- The survey showed that every third person (32.5%) had three or more risk factors for NCDs; the prevalence increased with age and was higher in men (40.0%) than women (24.9%). A total of 61.7% of respondents had 1–2 risk factors, and only 5.8% had none of the five NCD risk factors.
- The percentage of drivers or passengers of a motor vehicle who had not always used a seat belt over the preceding 30 days was 53.0%. This indicator was higher for women (67.1%) than for men (40.8%).

1. Background

1.1 Noncommunicable diseases worldwide

Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) tend to be of long duration and are the result of a combination of genetic, physiological, environmental and behavioural factors. NCDs are a group of conditions that comprise cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), cancers, mental health problems, diabetes mellitus, and chronic respiratory diseases.

These diseases are driven by forces that include rapid unplanned urbanization, globalization of unhealthy lifestyles and population ageing. Unhealthy diets and a lack of physical activity may show up in people as raised blood pressure (BP), increased blood glucose, elevated blood lipids and obesity. These are called metabolic risk factors and can lead to CVDs, which are the leading NCDs in terms of premature deaths. For the first time in history, more people are dying of NCDs, such as heart disease and diabetes, than of infectious diseases. Globally, seven in 10 deaths every year are due to NCDs, and according to WHO reports, the main contributors are tobacco use, harmful use of alcohol, unhealthy diets, and physical inactivity.¹

In 2016, an estimated 41 million deaths occurred globally as a result of NCDs, accounting for 71% of the 56 million total deaths. The majority of these deaths were caused by the four main NCDs: CVD, 17.9 million deaths (accounting for 44% of all NCD deaths); cancer, 9 million deaths (22%); chronic respiratory disease, 3.9 million deaths (10%); and diabetes, 1.6 million deaths (4%).¹

NCDs represent a leading threat to human health and economic development.² The burden of NCDs is rapidly increasing, especially in developing countries, and their social, economic and health consequences are becoming more and more significant. Over 80% of deaths resulting from CVDs and diabetes, almost 90% of deaths from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and more than two thirds of deaths from cancer occur in low- and middle-income countries.³

Many lives that would otherwise be lost to NCDs can be saved through early diagnosis and improved access to high-quality and affordable treatment, as well as through a whole-of-government approach to reduce the main risk factors. Investigations have shown that – when NCD risk factors are recognized, understood and prevented – the stroke rate can be reduced by 80%,⁴ the cancer rate by 30–50%,⁵ and type 2 diabetes can be delayed or totally prevented.⁶ An estimated 2.5 million deaths could be prevented each year if global salt consumption were reduced to the recommended level.⁷

Tobacco is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality globally.⁸ Both smoked directly and breathed in second-hand, tobacco is responsible





for more than 8 million deaths annually. Smoking is estimated to cause about 90% of lung cancers,⁹ 80% of chronic respiratory disease,¹⁰ and 10% of CVDs.¹¹ In 2015, more than 1.1 billion people smoked tobacco, with far more males than females currently engaging in this behaviour. The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control has now been ratified by 180 parties, representing 90% of the global population.¹²

About 5.1% of the global burden of disease and injury is attributable to alcohol.¹³ Alcohol contributes to traumatic outcomes that kill or disable people at a relatively young age, resulting in the loss of many years of life, as well as disability and death. Harmful use of alcohol causes about 3.8% of all deaths each year; more than half of these are due to NCDs, including liver cirrhosis, cancer and CVD. Harmful use of alcohol is the leading risk factor for death in men aged 15–59 years. The worldwide level of alcohol consumption in 2016 was 6.4 litres of pure alcohol per person aged 15 years and older, with considerable variation between WHO regions.¹⁴

Low consumption of fruits and vegetables is associated with higher risk of CVDs and stomach and colorectal cancers. High salt consumption is an important determinant of high BP and CVD risk. High consumption of saturated fat and trans-fat is associated with increased risk of heart disease and stroke.

Physically inactive people have a 20–30% increased risk of all-cause mortality.¹⁵ Raised body mass index (BMI) increases the risk of heart disease, stroke, diabetes and certain cancers.^{16,17}

Raised BP is the leading risk factor for the global disease burden. It is estimated to cause 9.4 million deaths every year – more than half of the estimated 18 million annual deaths from all CVDs. Raised blood cholesterol is estimated to cause 2.6 million deaths annually. Both are major risk factors for CVD and stroke.^{18,19}

1.2 NCDs in the Republic of Azerbaijan

There have been several recent studies on NCDs conducted by the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Azerbaijan: *Situational analysis of NCDs in Azerbaijan* (2008); *Economic impact of NCDs in Azerbaijan* (2009); the 2011 Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS-2011);²⁰ the 2016 Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS-2016);²¹ the National Survey on Risk Factors for Chronic Noncommunicable Diseases 2011;¹⁷ *Research into NCD risk factors in Azerbaijan* (2016);²² and a comparative analysis to evaluate the relevance of Azerbaijani legislation on tobacco control to the requirements set out in the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (conducted in 2015, updated in 2016). In addition to these studies and surveys, various data related to NCDs were obtained during the Azerbaijan Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS), which took place in 2006 and 2011.^{23,24}

The information collected shows that NCDs are – as in most other countries – a major cause of deaths and morbidity in Azerbaijan. Moreover, there is a high prevalence of risk factors such as smoking, overweight and

unhealthy diet, which are responsible for the great majority of NCD cases. According to the National Survey on NCD Risk Factors (2011), 62.7% of the adult population had at least 1–2 risk factors for developing an NCD, while 32.4% had three or more such factors. According to the State Statistical Committee of Azerbaijan, as of the end of 2016, the following six types of disease or injury were the leading causes of death in Azerbaijan:^{17,23,24}

(1) diseases of the cardiovascular system – 34 093 (60%)

(2)neoplasms/cancers - 8252 (15%)

(3) diseases of the digestive system - 2794 (5%)

(4)injury, poisoning and certain other external causes of death – 2731 (5%)

(5) diseases of the respiratory system – 1815 (3.2%)

(6) diseases of the endocrine system, including diabetes, and malnutrition – 1433 (2.5%).

Most of these diseases are attributable to common preventable risk factors such as tobacco use, excessive alcohol consumption, unhealthy diet, and physical inactivity.

The Azerbaijan National Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Non-Communicable Diseases 2015–2020, signed by the president of Azerbaijan in December 2015, is currently being implemented.²⁵ The strategy is based on the European Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases and the Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of NCDs.^{26,27} Its main goal is to prevent premature deaths and reduce the burden of NCDs in order to improve the quality of life and prolong the life expectancy of the population, and to strengthen labour resources and the economic potential of the country. Implementation of the NCD strategy is one of the tasks prioritized in *"Azerbaijan 2020: Look into the future" concept of development*, which was approved by the president of Azerbaijan in 2015.²⁸

As a continuation of efforts to reduce risk factors, the new Law of the Republic of Azerbaijan "On restriction of tobacco use" was approved by the president of Azerbaijan in December 2017.²⁹ The new law is comprehensive, covering a broad range of issues related to tobacco control, such as introducing measures to protect people from exposure to second-hand tobacco smoke (for instance, by creating smoke-free public places) and imposing bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship. Furthermore, it is expected that adoption of the new law will have a positive effect on all laws in Azerbaijan that relate to tobacco control.

1.3 Prevalence of NCD risk factors in the Republic of Azerbaijan

Smoking is still a problem for Azerbaijani society. In Azerbaijan, men smoke extensively, while women and children are mostly exposed to second-hand smoke. WHO data (2017) reported 35.3% prevalence of smoking among men (15+).³⁰



Azerbaijan has conducted several national surveys to monitor progress on tobacco control. Findings from the 2011 NCD survey (18 years and above) showed that the total prevalence of smoking overall was 22.9%.¹⁷ This prevalence was much higher for men (48.7%) than for women (0.5%); the possibility of underreporting among female respondents cannot be excluded. The greatest exposure to smoke was found at workplaces for men (55.0%) and at home for women (40.2%).

Data from GYTS-2016 (13–15 years) indicated that over 10% of students had smoked cigarettes, with significantly higher rates among boys. Current tobacco use rates were lower, at 7.3%. Nearly three in 10 students lived in homes where others smoked, and 40.8% of students were exposed to smoke in enclosed public places (27.3% in 2011).^{20,21}

According to the 2011 NCD survey, 14.3% of adults were regular alcohol users in Azerbaijan.¹⁷ Results in DHS-2006 show that 40% of men age 15–59 had consumed at least one alcoholic beverage in the month prior to the interview.²³

Although Azerbaijan is known for its rich vegetables and fruits, in 2010 more than half the population did not consume these products daily. The majority of the population consumed fewer vegetables and fruits than the WHO-recommended daily intake, with no significant differences between age and gender groups.³¹

According to results of the 2011 National Survey on NCD Risk Factors, the mean BMI was 27.0, with women having higher BMI than men (27.6 versus 26.5, respectively). The proportion of respondents classified as overweight and obese was 35.8% (women) and 21.9% (men). Obesity was substantially more prevalent among women (27.2%) than men (16.4%).¹⁷

According to the 2011 National Survey,¹⁷ another widespread risk factor in Azerbaijan was high BP. This is one of the most important modifiable risk factors for CVDs such as heart attack, myocardial infarction, acute coronary syndrome, congestive heart failure, stroke and peripheral vascular disease. Overall, 872 out of 2000 respondents had raised BP or were taking medicines for hypertension; of these, 7.5% were on medication and had their BP under control, 34.6% were taking drugs for raised BP but did not have it under control, and 57.9% were not taking any antihypertensive medicines and did not have their BP under control. Around half of women were on medication, whereas only about a third of men were on treatment.

Taking into account the rising prevalence of these risk factors and their contribution to the burden of disease in the country, it is important to analyse the changing trends, both nationally and regionally.

2. Survey goal and objectives

2.1 Survey goal

The goal of the first official STEPS survey in Azerbaijan (following the 2011 national survey, which largely followed the STEPS methodology¹⁷) was to provide up-to-date information using WHO-approved methods by assessing the prevalence, current situation and future tendencies of NCD causes and risk factors among the Azerbaijani population.

2.2 Survey objectives

The objectives of the survey were:

- to obtain the current levels of risk factors and the prevalence of behavioural risk factors for NCDs in the population aged 18–69 years in Azerbaijan;
- to determine the difference in the prevalence of risk factors between sexes and areas of residence and across age groups;
- to assess the progress in implementation of the national and global action plans;
- to track the direction and magnitude of trends in NCD risk factors; and
- to support the planning and evaluation of NCD strategy, policy and programme interventions.

2.3 Rationale for the survey

In the Republic of Azerbaijan there is no permanent monitoring system to monitor risk factors, and existing statistical data from the country's State Statistical Committee (SSC) are fragmentary and unsystematic. In order to obtain relevant data, a nationwide survey (using the STEPS methodology) was conducted in Azerbaijan in 2011.¹⁷ The findings of this national survey provided the evidence for developing the National Strategy on the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2015–2020 and the NCD surveillance system in the country.²⁵ In 2016 the Ministry of Health conducted *Research into NCD risk factors in Azerbaijan*, in line with the implementation plan of the national NCD strategy.²² This survey partially used STEPS methodology.

The first official WHO STEPS survey in Azerbaijan was conducted in 2017. This survey provided the opportunity to compare results with the earlier 2011 survey (which also used the STEPS methodology)¹⁷ and to identify shifts, if any, in the prevalence of behavioural risk factors for NCDs and any changes needed in the policies associated with them.

5





The survey was conducted in accordance with the WHO methodology, thereby providing comparable information on the prevalence of risk factors for NCDs in different countries across the world.

3. Survey methodology

3.1 The STEPS approach

The survey used the WHO-endorsed STEPwise approach to surveillance (STEPS) for surveillance of NCDs and their associated risk factors (Fig. 1). The approach is based on following three sequential steps in collecting data on NCD risk factors. Each step focuses on a particular set of data which is subdivided into three main categories: core items, expanded items and optional items. Data on core items should be collected in any country setting. Expanded items and optional items are dependent on human resources, logistics and financial limitations.

Step 1 core items include information on basic demographic data; tobacco use; alcohol consumption; fruit and vegetable consumption; consumption of salt; physical activity; history of raised BP, diabetes, raised total cholesterol and CVDs; lifestyle advice; and cervical cancer screening.

Step 2 core items include the following physical measurements: BP, height, weight and waist circumference.

Step 3 core items include the following biochemical measurements: fasting blood sugar, total cholesterol, and urinary sodium and creatinine.

Fig. 1. Concept of the WHO STEPwise approach



WHO STEPS also contain eSTEPS, a software package and set of specific tools to enter data in electronic format. This method brings several important advantages: no paper forms needed, built-in range checks and determined flow of data collection, and simpler preparation of dataset for analyses.

It is recommended that STEPS surveys are conducted once every five years (taking into account resource limitations), thus establishing a surveillance system on determined risk factors.







OF BEHAVIOURAL AND BIOLOGICAL RISK FACTORS FOR NCDs

3.2 Sampling procedure

Overall, 2880 individuals participated in the STEPS survey. The age groups used in the study were based on the Global Burden of Disease age groups; there were two age groups, 18-44 and 45-69 years, per gender.³²

The sample size was calculated using the formula:

$$n = Z^2 \frac{P(1-P)}{e^2}$$

where:

- **Z** = probability value for 95% confidence interval (CI) (1.96)
- **P** = estimated prevalence of the risk factors (0.5)

e = margin of error (0.05).

The calculation resulted in a sample size n = 384.

The sample size was then adjusted for the design effect with a recommended value of 1.5 for the majority of complex STEPS studies:

n = 384 * 1.5 = 576

In addition, the sample size was adjusted for the four age/sex groups used in the STEPS survey simply by multiplying the sample size by their number:

n = 576 * 4 = 2304

Also, the sample size was adjusted for the anticipated non-response by dividing the sample size by the recommended anticipated response rate of 80%, thus obtaining the final sample size:

n = 2304/0.8 = 2880

The study used a stratified three-stage cluster design. The primary sampling units (clusters) were proportionally selected among all economic regions of Azerbaijan, excluding the Nakhchivan Autonomous Republic and occupied territories (Table 1). The STEPS survey used the database of the Central Election Commission.

	Economic region	Households (<i>n</i>)	Clusters (n)	Households in sample (<i>n</i>)
1	Baku	517 400	64	768
2	Absheron	120 900	17	204
3	Ganja-Qazakh	261 700	35	420
4	Shaki-Zaqatala	132 300	16	192
5	Lankaran	164 000	24	288
6	Quba-Khachmaz	110 500	14	168
7	Aran	389 700	55	660
8	Yukhari-Karabakh	95 100	7	84
9	Daglig-Shirvan	60 100	8	96
Tota	al	1 851 700	240	2880

Table 1. STEPS sample byeconomic region

In the first stage, based on resource availability, 240 clusters were selected from the database with a probability proportional to cluster size; 135 clusters represented urban areas, 105 clusters rural areas.

In the second stage, secondary sampling units (households) were selected from each cluster using a simple random sampling approach. The number of households selected from each cluster was 12.

In the third stage, tertiary sampling units (individuals) were selected from each household using a simple random sampling approach. Just one individual was selected from each household.

The sample allocation structure is presented below:

240 clusters x 12 households x 1 individual = 2880 individuals

To increase the quality of survey results, data were weighted to adjust for the probability of selection (sample weight) and differences between the sample population and target population (population weight).

The survey was conducted between May 2017 and March 2018. The data were collected over two months, from 24 August 2017 to 24 October 2017. The response rate was 97.3% (2801 respondents).

3.3 WHO STEPS Instrument and data collection

The WHO STEPS Instrument for NCD risk factor surveillance was used for data collection.³³ Step 1 included all core and expanded items. Step 2 also included all core and expanded items. Step 3 included all core measurements only. In addition, three optional modules – "Tobacco policy", "Violence and injury" and "Mental health/suicide" – were added to the survey. Translation was made into the Azerbaijani language.

In Step 1, demographic information and behavioural measurements were collected. The corresponding questionnaire included data on tobacco use, alcohol consumption, diet, dietary salt, physical activity, history of raised BP, history of diabetes, history of raised total cholesterol, history of CVDs, lifestyle advice and cervical cancer screening (for women only).

In Step 2, physical measurements were collected. These included BP, height and weight, waist and hip circumference, and heart rate.

In Step 3, biochemical measurements were collected. These included blood glucose, blood lipids, urinary sodium and creatinine.

Interviewers used show cards adapted to the local context when asking questions about tobacco use, alcohol consumption and diet. Six show cards were developed that illustrated typical local tobacco products; three show cards illustrated common servings/measures of alcohol; and six show cards illustrated examples of fruits, vegetables and juices.

Information for Step 1 and Step 2 was collected within the household setting. Regional executive power authorities allocated personnel who assisted the survey teams in locating households and establishing initial contact. During visits, interviewers gave survey participants instructions on taking urine samples, together with a urine container. Step 3 biochemical measurements

STEPS SURVEYS PROVIDE RELIABLE AND INTERNATIONALLY COMPARABLE INFORMATION

ON THE PREVALENCE OF RISK FACTORS







(except urinary sodium and creatinine) were made in specially allocated medical facilities, which survey participants visited on the following morning. In the case of distant villages, the survey team visited participants again on the following morning to take biochemical measurements (except urinary sodium and creatinine) within the household setting.

The results of biochemical analyses (except urinary sodium and creatinine) were recorded on a tablet computer. Urine samples were analysed centrally by the company EuroLab. As per the signed contract, the company was responsible for delivery of urine samples and their analysis. EuroLab recorded the results of analyses of urine samples in a separate database. This database was merged with the survey database after all urine analyses had been completed. The merging was carried out using QR (Quick Response) codes that were unique to each participant.

Every survey team had a tablet (Samsung Galaxy Tab 4 8.0) which was equipped with the STEPS software package provided by WHO. The software had built-in range checks as well as skip patterns and was used for recording survey data. QR codes were assigned to all participants in order to uniquely identify them within the database. The survey data were accumulated on a distant server provided by WHO.

Four supervisors were assigned to monitor the field work and facilitate the data collection process, which was monitored on a constant basis. Geolocation software allowed monitoring to be conducted at the level of individual household. Information on the course of the fieldwork was shared with all interested organizations.

3.4 Data downloading and analysis

A WHO expert conducted training on data analysis for the team of the Public Health and Reforms **Centre** responsible for data analysis and reporting. The training took place on 12–16 December 2017.

Data cleaning was conducted in accordance with WHO recommendations. It was mainly focused on exclusion of duplicate records, which were caused by unstable internet conditions in rural areas.

After the database had been approved by the WHO expert, it was exported in Excel format. There were three Excel files, each holding separate data for Steps 1, 2 and 3. All three files were merged to constitute the final database for analysis. Results were calculated as means or percentages with corresponding 95% CIs.

The analyses were carried out using Epi Info version 3.5.3 software.

3.5 Ethical considerations

Interviewers had to obtain informed consent from survey participants before data collection. There were two consent forms to be signed by participants – one for Step 1 and 2, the other for Step 3. All signed forms are stored in the archive of the Public Health and Reforms Centre. Access to the archive is restricted to authorized personnel only.

4. Survey results

4.1 Demographic indicators

This section of the report presents the findings and data analysis results of the information gathered on demographic indicators such as age, gender, education, marital status, ethnicity, occupation, and household income of survey respondents.

Table 2 presents the distribution of study participants by gender and age groups. The survey population consisted of 2801 respondents aged 18–69 years, representing all administrative units in the Republic of Azerbaijan (excluding the Nakhchivan Autonomous Republic and occupied territories, which did not participate in the survey). Of the 2801 respondents, a greater proportion were female than male: 1665 women (59.4%) compared to 1136 men (40.6%). Of the respondents, 45.2% were in the 18–44 age group (1265 individuals), 54.8% in the 45–69 age group (1536 individuals).

Age group (years)	Men (%)	Women (%)	Both sexes (%)
18–44	41.5	58.5	100
45-69	39.8	60.2	100
18–69	40.6	59.4	100

Table 2. Distribution ofrespondents, by age and sex

In terms of residential setting, 1568 people were from urban areas (56.0%) and 1233 from rural areas (44.0%) (Fig. 2).





11



Of all survey respondents, 92.8% were Azerbaijani, 3.1% Talish, 2.1% Lezgi, and 2.0% from other ethnic groups.

A total of 73.5% of the study population were married, 13.3% had never been married, 9.4% were widowed, 2.0% were divorced, 0.3% were cohabitating and 1.5% were separated (Table 3). The proportion of respondents who had never been married was higher among men (16.2%) than women (11.3%). The proportion of people divorced was 3.6 times higher among women (2.9%) than among men (0.8%), while the proportion of people widowed was four times higher among women (13.5%) than among men (3.4%).

Table 3. Marital status ofrespondents, by sex

Sex	Never married (%)	Currently married (%)	Separated (%)	Divorced (%)	Widowed (%)	Cohabiting (%)
Men	16.2	78.7	0.7	0.8	3.4	0.3
Women	11.3	69.9	2.0	2.9	13.5	0.3
Both sexes	13.3	73.5	1.5	2.0	9.4	0.3

The mean number of years spent in education was 11.6, with men spending longer in education than women (12.1 and 11.2 years, respectively) (Table 4). The younger age group (18–44) tended to have slightly more years of schooling than the older age group (45–69) (11.7 and 11.4 years, respectively).

Age group (years)	Men (years)	Women (years)	Both sexes (years)
18–44	12.0	11.5	11.7
45-69	12.1	11.0	11.4
18–69	12.1	11.2	11.6

42.8% of respondents reported that they had completed college/university (Table 5). The proportion of female respondents who did not have any formal schooling was greater than that of male respondents (0.8% versus 0.4%). Comparison of education level by sex showed that men were more likely to have completed a university or postgraduate degree, while women were more likely to have completed high school or secondary school. Interestingly, the highest proportion of college/university-educated people was observed in the 45–69 age group, and this finding was the same for both sexes.

Table 5. Level of education attained,by sex

Table 4. Mean number of yearsspent in education, by age and sex

Sex	No formal schooling (%)	Less than primary school (%)	Primary school completed (%)	Secondary school completed [%]	High school completed (%)	College/ university completed (%)	Postgraduate degree completed (%)
Men	0.4	0.1	0.8	8.8	38.8	49.2	1.8
Women	0.8	0.8	3.1	12.3	43.4	38.4	1.2
Both sexes	0.7	0.5	2.2	10.9	41.5	42.8	1.5

Less than half of respondents (42.5%) were employed (Table 6). There were more than twice as many working men (60.9%) as working women (29.9%). Only 22.1% of respondents were government employees, 13.9% were non-government employees, and 6.5% were self-employed. Around 42% of female respondents were housewives.

Sex	Government employee (%)	Non- government employee (%)	Self- employed (%)	Unpaid (%)ª
Men	21.5	25.6	13.8	39.1
Women	22.6	5.8	1.5	70.1
Both sexes	22.1	13.9	6.5	57.5

Table 6. Employment status,by sex

^a "Unpaid" includes persons who are non-paid, students, homemakers, retired and unemployed.

One in every six respondents was unemployed despite being able to work. The proportion of such people was twice as great among men as among women (23.0% versus 11.4%) and decreased with age.

Of 2801 respondents, 2246 (80.1%) responded to the household income question. The average per capita annual income was 1800 Azerbaijani manat.

4.2 Tobacco use

Tobacco use was measured by asking respondents separate sets of questions to gather information on use of smoked tobacco products and smokeless tobacco use. Respondents were grouped into current smokers and non-smokers.

Current smokers were respondents who had smoked any tobacco products (such as cigarettes, cigars and hand-rolled tobacco) in the past 30 days. Current smokers comprised daily smokers and non-daily smokers. Daily smokers were those who smoked tobacco products every day; non-daily smokers were those who smoked tobacco products but not on a daily basis. Non-smokers comprised those who had never smoked tobacco products and those who had quit smoking – i.e. former smokers. Categorization of smoking status in such groups actually facilitates analysis and understanding of the addictive characteristics of tobacco.

The percentage of current smokers of all tobacco products among all respondents was 24.0% (21.9–26.1). Almost one in every two men was a current smoker, whereas only 0.2% of women (four individuals altogether) reported smoking at the time of the interview. Considering the very low prevalence of smoking among female respondents, more detailed information on smoking is presented below for men than for women. The percentage of current smokers among men was higher in the younger age group (49.3%; 44.3–54.3) than in the older age group (47.8%; 43.3–52.3) (Table 7).

13



Age group	Men		Women		Both sexes	
(years)	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	49.3	44.3-54.3	0.2	0.0-0.4	24.8	22.0-27.6
45-69	47.8	43.3-52.3	0.3	0.0-0.7	22.7	20.1-25.3
18-69	48.8	45.1-52.5	0.2	0.0-0.4	24.0	21.9-26.1

Table 7. Percentage of currentsmokers, by age and sex

Fig. 3 shows no significant difference in the percentage of current male smokers in urban and rural settings (49.2%; 44.1–54.4 versus 48.3%; 42.8–53.8).



Fig. 3. Percentage of men who were current smokers, by age and setting

Overall, 48.8% (45.1–52.5) of men were current smokers, with 47.2% (43.5–50.9) daily smokers and 1.6% (0.8–2.4) non-daily smokers. It was also reported that 41.4% (37.6–45.2) of men had never smoked and 9.8% (7.9–11.8) were former smokers. The number of former smokers was substantially higher among older respondents (Table 8).

Table 8. Smoking status of men, byage [%]

Age group (years)		Current smokers				Non-smokers			
	Daily (%)	95% CI	Non-daily (%)	95% CI	Former smoker (%)	95% CI	Never smoker (%)	95% CI	
18-44	47.6	42.6-52.6	1.7	0.6-2.9	6.4	4.2-8.6	44.3	39.2-49.4	
45-69	46.4	41.9-51.0	1.4	0.4-2.3	16.0	12.7–19.3	36.1	31.6-40.7	
18-69	47.2	43.5-50.9	1.6	0.8-2.4	9.8	7.9–11.8	41.4	37.6-45.2	

The survey showed that men started smoking, on average, at 18.7 years (18.3–19.2). There was almost no difference between male age groups (18–44 and 45–69) with respect to the mean age at which they started smoking (18.3 versus 19.4, respectively) (Table 9).

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	Mean age (years)	95% CI	Mean age (years)	95% CI	Mean age (years)	95% CI
18–44	18.3	17.8–18.9	21.0	-	18.3	17.8–18.9
45-69	19.4	18.6-20.3	15.6	-	19.4	18.6-20.2
18-69	18.7	18.3-19.2	18.4	-	18.7	18.3-19.2

The mean duration of smoking among male daily smokers was 20.4 years (19.1–21.7). The mean duration was higher for older respondents than for younger ones (33.9 versus 13.1 years) (Table 10).

Table 9. Mean age of smokinginitiation, by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men		Wome	en	Both sexes		
	Mean duration (years)	95% CI	Mean duration (years)	95% CI	Mean duration (years)	95% CI	
18-44	13.1	12.0-14.2	3.8	-	13.1	12.0-14.1	
45-69	33.9	32.8-34.9	34.1	_	33.9	32.8-34.9	
18–69	20.4	19.1–21.7	18.3	-	20.4	19.1–21.7	

The great majority of male daily smokers (95.1%; 91.3–98.9) reported using manufactured cigarettes.

The percentage of current male smokers using different smoking products was as follows: manufactured cigarettes – 94.9%; cigars – 5.6%; shisha – 4.8%; hand-rolled cigarettes – 1.8%; pipe – 1.8%; and others – 1.3%.

The mean number of manufactured cigarettes smoked per day by daily smokers was 18.9 (17.6–20.2) for all age groups. Men in the 45–69 age group smoked more cigarettes per day than those in the 18–44 age group (21.3 versus 17.9) (Fig. 4).



Table 10. Mean duration ofsmoking, by age and sex

Fig. 4. Mean number of manufactured cigarettes smoked by male daily smokers, by age and setting

15



Half of male daily smokers (49.8%) smoked 15–24 cigarettes per day (Fig. 5). Almost a third (31.1%) of men in the 45–69 age group smoked 25 or more cigarettes a day.





About half (49.5%; 43.9–55.1) of currently smoking male respondents had tried to stop smoking during the previous year. Among current male smokers who had visited a doctor or other health worker in the past 12 months, only 31.2% (24.1–38.3) had been advised to stop smoking (Table 11).

Table 11. Percentage of currentsmokers advised by a doctor to stopsmoking, by age and sex^a

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	22.8	14.4-31.1	100.0	100.0-100.0	23.0	14.7–31.4
45-69	46.2	35.0-57.4	72.8	36.5-100.0	46.5	35.3-57.7
18-69	31.2	24.1-38.3	82.8	45.0-100.0	31.5	24.3-38.7

^a The values for women need to be treated with caution as very low levels of current smoking were recorded among women.

Among all male respondents, only 0.2% (0.0–0.5) were current users of smokeless tobacco.

Of all respondents, 24.9% had been exposed to second-hand smoke at home over the previous 30 days. Surprisingly, men were more exposed than women (26.5% versus 23.3%). The overall rate of exposure to second-hand smoke at home for both sexes was higher in the younger age group than the older (26.6% versus 22.1%) (Table 12).

Women Men Both sexes Age group (years) % 95% CI 95% CI % 95% CI % 18-44 29.2 23.6-34.8 24.0 19.3-28.6 26.6 22.4-30.8 45-69 21.8 17.7-25.8 22.4 18.4-26.4 22.1 18.9-25.3 18-69 26.5 22.3-30.7 23.3 19.6-27.1 24.9 21.6-28.2

In contrast, in the workplace only 18.3% (15.0–21.6) of respondents of both sexes had been exposed to second-hand smoke over the previous

Table 12. Percentage of populationexposed to second-hand smoke athome during the past 30 days, byage and sex

30 days. Predictably, men were more exposed than women (28.4% versus 7.7%). Among all respondents, exposure was higher in the younger age group (19.7%) than the older age group (16.0%) (Table 13).

Table 13. Percentage of populationexposed to second-hand smoke inthe workplace during the past 30days, by age and sex

Age group	Men		Women		Both sexes	
(years)	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	29.9	22.8-37.0	8.4	5.5-11.2	19.7	15.4-23.9
45-69	25.7	19.9–31.6	6.7	3.8-9.6	16.0	12.3–19.6
18–69	28.4	23.0-33.9	7.7	5.5-9.9	18.3	15.0-21.6

4.2.1 Tobacco policy

Tobacco policy was assessed as optional modules. Participants were asked whether they had seen any information on the dangers of smoking cigarettes or information that encouraged quitting smoking in print (newspapers and magazines) or electronic media (TV and radio).

During the 30 days preceding the survey, 31.9% (27.8–36.0) of respondents had noticed information about the dangers of smoking or that encouraged quitting in newspapers or magazines; 66.6% (61.9–71.3) had noticed such information on television; and 33.6% (29.0–38.1) had noticed such information on the radio. Differences between age groups (18–44 and 45–69) were not noteworthy, but there were slight differences between gender groups with respect to all mass media sources: men noticed these warning messages more often than women.

Among current smokers, 89.4% (85.7–93.1) of respondents had noticed health warnings on cigarette packets during the 30 days preceding the survey. Of this group, 41.4% (35.7–47.1) had been influenced to think about quitting by the health warnings they had seen on cigarette packets.

Fig. 6 shows the percentage of all respondents who had noticed different kinds of cigarette promotion over the past 30 days.





17



4.3 Alcohol consumption

Respondents were asked to indicate their alcohol consumption status – that is, if they consumed alcohol, and if so, the frequency and quantity of their alcohol consumption.

Of all respondents, 29.7% reported that they had consumed an alcoholic drink at some time in their lives; the remaining 70.3% were lifetime abstainers. The proportion of lifetime abstainers was twice as great among women as among men – 94.5% (40.3–50.1) versus 45.2% (92.8–96.2).

Respondents who reported that they had consumed alcohol within the past 30 days were defined in the survey as current drinkers; they accounted for 13.9% (12.1–15.8) of all respondents. Current drinking occurred almost exclusively among males – 27.6% (23.9–31.3), as opposed to 0.8% (0.4–1.3) among females. Because of the low number of women consuming alcohol within the past year, the results for women are omitted from some of the tables below. There was a higher proportion of current male drinkers in the older age group (29.2%) than in the younger age group (26.7%) (Table 14).

Table 14. Alcohol consumptionstatus among men, by age

Age group (years)	Current drinker (past 30 days) (%)	95% CI	Drank in past 12 months, not current (%)	95% CI	Abstainer over past 12 months (%)	95% CI	Lifetime abstainer (%)	95% CI
18–44	26.7	22.0-31.4	12.8	8.9–16.8	10.3	7.4–13.2	50.2	44.4-56.0
45-69	29.2	25.0-33.5	13.9	10.6-17.2	20.6	16.5-24.7	36.2	31.0-41.5
18–69	27.6	23.9-31.3	13.2	10.4–16.1	14.0	11.4–16.6	45.2	40.3-50.1

A slightly higher percentage of current male drinkers (men who had consumed alcohol in the past 30 days) was observed in rural areas – 28.4% (23.2–33.7), as opposed to 26.9% (21.6–32.0) in urban areas (Fig. 7).



The percentage of male former drinkers (men who had not drunk during the previous 12 months) who had stopped drinking for health reasons,

Fig. 7. Percentage of men consuming alcohol, by age and setting

such as negative impact on their health or advice from a doctor, was 41.2% (31.4-50.9); among female former drinkers, the figure was 18.5% (4.1-32.8). The proportion of men who stopped drinking for health reasons increased from 36.8% (22.8-50.8) in the 18-44 age group to 45.1% (34.1-56.1) in those aged 45-69 years (Table 15).

Table 15. Percentage of populationwho stopped drinking for healthreasons, by age and sex

Age group	Men		Women		Both sexes	
(years)	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18-44	36.8	22.8-50.8	20.1	0.7–39.5	32.9	19.8-46.1
45-69	45.1	34.1-56.1	16.1	2.4-29.8	40.7	31.1-50.3
18–69	41.2	31.4-50.9	18.5	4.1-32.8	36.8	27.8-45.9

Among male respondents who had drunk in the previous 12 months, 1.7% (0.5–2.8) drank alcohol every day. Half (49.4%; 43.4–55.4) of respondents of both sexes consumed alcohol less than once a month. Only 37 women answered this question, and of these, 92.8% (86.6–98.9) drank alcohol less than once a month. There were no obvious differences between age groups in the proportion of respondents who drank alcohol on 5–6 days a week or 1–2 days a week (Fig. 8).

Fig. 8. Frequency of alcohol consumption in the past 12 months (both sexes), by age



In the previous 30 days, current male drinkers had consumed at least one drink on 3.9 occasions (3.3–4.5); among women, the corresponding figure was 1.8 occasions (1.0–2.5). For both sexes, the average number of drinking occasions was higher in the 45–69 age group (4.3) than in the 18–44 age group (3.7).

The average number of drinking occasions in the previous 30 days was higher in the rural population (4.2; 3.4-5.0) than in the urban population (3.5; 2.8-4.3) (Fig. 9).

19



Fig. 9. Mean number of drinking occasions in the past 30 days among current drinkers (both sexes), by age and setting



Current drinkers were asked about the average number of standard drinks consumed on a drinking occasion. Current drinkers of both sexes consumed, on average, 3.6 drinks per occasion (3.2–3.9), with men consuming 3.6 drinks (3.2–3.9). Men in the 45–69 age group consumed, on average, almost three times as many standard drinks per drinking occasion as women. The mean number of standard drinks per drinking occasion was slightly higher in the rural population (3.6; 3.1–4.1) than in the urban population (3.4; 2.9–3.9) (Fig. 10).



As shown in Table 16, 70.5% of all current drinkers (64.0–77.0) were at the low-end level of alcohol consumption; 13.3% of men (8.6–17.9) and 11.4% of women (0.0–29.1) had an intermediate level of alcohol consumption; and 16.3% of men (11.3–21.3) and 15.3% of women (0.0–46.1) had a high-end level of alcohol consumption. The differences between age groups were not significant for either sex.

Fig. 10. Mean number of standard drinks per drinking occasion among current drinkers (both sexes), by age and setting
Sex	High end (%)	95% CI	Intermediate (%)	95% CI	Low end (%)	95% CI
Men	16.3	11.3-21.3	13.3	8.6-17.9	70.4	63.8-77.1
Women	15.3	0.0-46.1	11.4	0.0-29.1	73.4	40.6-100.0
Both sexes	16.3	11.3-21.2	13.2	8.6-17.8	70.5	64.0-77.0

The mean maximum number of standard drinks consumed on one occasion in the past 30 days by male respondents was 4.4 (3.9-4.8); among women, the corresponding figure was 1.4 (1.0-1.7) (Table 17).

Table 16. Percentage of currentdrinkers with different drinkinglevels, by sex

Age group (years)	Men		Wom	en	Both sexes		
	No. of drinks	95% CI	No. of drinks	95% CI	No. of drinks	95% CI	
18-44	4.0	3.4-4.6	1.4	0.9-1.9	3.9	3.4-4.4	
45-69	4.9	4.2-5.6	1.3	0.9-1.8	4.8	4.2-5.5	
18–69	4.4	3.9-4.8	1.4	1.0–1.7	4.3	3.8-4.7	

11% of men (8.4-13.6) and only 0.2% of women (0.0-0.4) reported that they had consumed six or more drinks ("heavy episodic drinking") at least once during the previous 30 days.

Among current drinkers of both sexes, the mean number of times on which six or more drinks were consumed on a single occasion in the past 30 days was 1.3 (0.0–0.2).

Table 17. Mean maximum numberof standard drinks consumed onone occasion in the past 30 days, byage and sex

Table 18 shows the frequency of alcohol consumption in the past seven days for respondents of both sexes. 24.9% (18.7–31.1) of current drinkers reported that they had consumed no alcohol in the past seven days.

Table 18. Frequency of alcoholconsumption in the past sevendays, by sex

Sex	Daily (%)	95% CI	5–6 days (%)	95% CI	3–4 days (%)	95% CI	1–2 days (%)	95% CI	0 days (%)	95% CI
Men	1.9	0.4-3.3	1.4	0.1-2.7	15.8	10.1-21.5	56.9	49.9-64.0	24.1	17.8–30.3
Women	-	-	-	-	15.3	0.0-46.1	34.0	0.9-67.1	50.7	17.1-84.4
Both sexes	1.8	0.4-3.2	1.3	0.1-2.6	15.8	10.2-21.4	56.2	49.3-63.1	24.9	18.7-31.1

The number of standard drinks consumed per day in the past seven days by current drinkers was, on average, only 0.2 (0.1–0.3).

The percentage of male respondents, among current drinkers, who had consumed unrecorded alcohol (homebrewed alcohol, alcohol brought over the border, alcohol not intended for drinking, or other untaxed alcohol) during the past seven days was 5.3% (2.4–8.3).

The number of standard drinks of unrecorded alcohol consumed per day in the past seven days for both sexes was, on average, only 0.1 (0-0.3).

Among male drinkers who had consumed alcohol in the past 12 months, the percentage who had never needed a first drink in the morning to get going



after a heavy drinking session over the past 12 months was 96.2% (94.2–98.1).

Of all respondents, 95.0% (93.7–96.3) had never had any problems with their family or partner over the past 12 months because of someone else's drinking.

4.4 Diet

The fruit and vegetable consumption of the survey population was assessed using the indicators "frequency of fruit and vegetable consumption per week" and "average daily consumption", stratified by gender, age and location of residency.

The mean number of days per week on which fruits and vegetables were consumed was, respectively, 5.1 (5.0-5.2) and 5.9 (5.8-6.0). Women consumed fruits more frequently than men – 5.2 (5.0-5.3) versus 5.0 (4.8-5.2) days per week. Men consumed vegetables, on average, on 5.8 (5.7-6.0) days per week, women on 5.9 (5.8-6.1) days. Consumption of both fruits and vegetables was a little more frequent in the older age group (Tables 19 and 20).

Table 19. Mean number of days onwhich fruits were consumed in atypical week, by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men		Wom	nen	Both sexes	
	No. of days	95% CI	No. of days	95% CI	No. of days	95% CI
18-44	5.0	4.7-5.2	5.1	4.9-5.3	5.0	4.9-5.2
45-69	5.0	4.8-5.2	5.2	5.1-5.4	5.1	5.0-5.3
18-69	5.0	4.8-5.2	5.2	5.0-5.3	5.1	5.0-5.2

Age group (years)	Men		Wom	ien	Both sexes		
	No. of days	95% CI	No. of days	95% CI	No. of days	95% CI	
18–44	5.7	5.5-5.9	5.9	5.7-6.1	5.8	5.7-6.0	
45-69	5.9	5.8-6.1	6.0	5.9-6.1	6.0	5.9-6.1	
18–69	5.8	5.7-6.0	5.9	5.8-6.1	5.9	5.8-6.0	

Table 20. Mean number of days onwhich vegetables were consumed ina typical week, by age and sex

The frequency of fruit consumption was found to be higher in the urban population (5.2 days per week; 5.0–5.3) than in the rural population (5.0 days; 4.8–5.2) (Fig. 11).





Fig. 11. Mean number of days on which fruits were consumed in a typical week, by age, sex and setting



Women in the 45–69 age group and urban residents consumed more fruits and vegetables than other groups of respondents.

The largest proportion of respondents (43.6%; 40.0–47.2) of both sexes consumed 1–2 servings of fruits and/or vegetables per day – 43.7% (39.0–48.3) of men and 43.5% (39.7–47.3) of women. About 6.6% (5.0–8.1) of all respondents reported that they did not consume any fruits or vegetables – 7.5% (5.2–9.8) of men and 5.6% (4.1–7.2) of women. On the other hand, a higher proportion of men than women consumed five or more servings of fruits and/or vegetables per day (25.6% versus 22.7%) (Table 21). Differences between the age groups (18–44 and 45–69 years) were negligible.

Fig. 12. Mean number of days on which vegetables were consumed in a typical week, by age, sex and setting

Table 21. Percentage of populationhaving various servings of fruitsand/or vegetables per day, by sex

Sex	No fruits and/ or vegetables (%)	95% CI	1–2 servings (%)	95% CI	3–4 servings (%)	95% CI	≥5 servings (%)	95% CI
Men	7.5	5.2-9.8	43.7	39.0-48.3	23.2	20.2-26.3	25.6	21.7-29.5
Women	5.6	4.1-7.2	43.5	39.7-47.3	28.1	25.1-31.1	22.7	19.2-26.2
Both sexes	6.6	5.0-8.1	43.6	40.0-47.2	25.7	23.4-28.1	24.1	21.0-27.2



Table 22. Mean number of servingsof fruits and/or vegetables onaverage per day, by age and sex

The number of servings of fruits and/or vegetables consumed on average per day by respondents of both sexes was 3.5 (3.3–3.7) (Table 22).

Age group (years)	Men		Wor	nen	Both sexes	
	No. of servings	95% CI	No. of servings	95% CI	No. of servings	95% CI
18–44	3.6	3.3-4.0	3.4	3.2-3.6	3.5	3.3–3.7
45-69	3.6	3.3-3.9	3.5	3.3-3.7	3.5	3.3–3.8
18–69	3.6	3.3-3.9	3.4	3.2-3.6	3.5	3.3-3.7

Fig. 13. Mean number of servings of fruits and/or vegetables on average per day, by age, sex and setting

The number of servings of fruits and vegetables consumed per day was higher among urban residents (3.8 servings; 3.5–4.1) than those living in rural areas (3.2 servings; 3.0–3.5) (Fig. 13).



The percentage of those eating less than five servings of fruits and/or vegetables per day on average for all respondents was 75.9% (72.8–79.0) (Table 23).

Age group (years)	Men		W	omen	Both sexes		
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	
18–44	74.1	69.3-79.0	78.5	74.2-82.8	76.3	72.8-79.9	
45-69	74.9	70.5-79.3	75.3	71.4-79.3	75.1	71.5-78.7	
18–69	74.4	70.5-78.3	77.3	73.8-80.8	75.9	72.8–79.0	

Table 23. Percentage of populationconsuming less than five servings offruits and/or vegetables on averageper day, by age and sex

The knowledge, attitude and behaviour of Azerbaijani adults towards dietary salt consumption were assessed using structured questions. The survey found that the percentage of all respondents who always or often added salt or salty sauce to their food before or while eating for both sexes was 25.7% (22.8–28.6); the figure for men was 26.6% (22.6–30.5), for women 24.8% (21.7–28.0).

As shown in Fig. 14, there were visible differences between age groups (18–44 and 45–69), sex groups and residential settings.

Fig. 14. Percentage of population adding salt always or often before or while eating, by age, sex and setting



The percentage of all respondents who always or often added salt to their food when cooking or preparing food at home was, for both sexes, 65.9% (61.2–70.6). There were slight differences between age groups, and men added salt to their food more often than women (67.9%; 62.6–73.2 versus 64.2%; 59.1–69.3). Urban residents added salt to their food a little more often than their rural counterparts (Fig. 15).

Fig. 15. Percentage of population adding salt always or often when cooking or preparing food at home, by age, sex and setting



Respondents were asked if they often consumed processed foods high in salt. The prevalence among all survey participants was 26.6% (23.7–29.6). The percentage of men who reported eating processed food high in salt (29.6%; 25.6–33.5) was higher than that of women (23.8%; 20.5–27.1) (Table 24).



Age group (years)	Men		W	omen	Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	32.2	26.9-37.5	28.1	23.5-32.8	30.2	26.2-34.1
45-69	24.8	20.5-29.1	16.9	13.9–19.8	20.6	17.7–23.6
18-69	29.6	25.6-33.5	23.8	20.5-27.1	26.6	23.7-29.6

Table 24. Percentage of populationalways or often consumingprocessed foods high in salt, by ageand sex

There was a significant decrease in the proportion of respondents eating such foods with age. Also, a significant difference was found between rural and urban residents, with a higher prevalence in the latter (21.5%; 17.0–26.0 versus 30.9%; 27.1–34.8).

Table 25. Percentage of populationthinking they consume too much orfar too much salt, by age and sex

Around one in five (21.9%; CI: 19.6–24.2) of all respondents thought that they consumed too much or far too much salt. The percentage of men with this opinion was a little higher than that of women. No significant differences between age groups were revealed (Table 25).

Age group (years)	Men		We	omen	Both sexes		
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	
18–44	21.8	17.4-26.2	23.0	19.5-26.4	22.4	19.5–25.3	
45-69	23.3	19.3-27.2	19.1	15.9-22.3	21.1	18.3–23.9	
18-69	22.3	19.0-25.7	21.5	18.8-24.1	21.9	19.6-24.2	

The proportion of men who thought that they consumed too little or far too little salt was higher than that of women (13.5% versus 10.6%). The percentage of all respondents who thought that they were using "just the right amount" of salt was 66.1% (63.4–68.8).

Table 26. Percentage of populationthinking that consuming too muchsalt could cause serious healthproblem, by age and sex

The percentage of all respondents who thought that consuming too much salt could cause serious health problems was 73.1% (68.8–77.5). The prevalence of women with this belief was higher than that of men (75.1%; 70.6–79.6 versus 71.0%; 66.0–76.0). This belief was more common among older respondents (45–69 years) than younger ones (18–44 years) – 78.9% versus 69.7% (Table 26).

Age group (years)	Men		W	omen	Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	67.6	61.8-73.3	71.8	66.4-77.1	69.7	64.8-74.5
45-69	77.2	71.4-83.0	80.5	76.0-85.0	78.9	74.3-83.5
18-69	71.0	66.0-76.0	75.1	70.6-79.6	73.1	68.8-77.5

Although a large proportion of respondents were aware that salt can cause serious health problems, 18.7% of them considered that lowering salt in the diet was not at all important. 37.0% thought it was very important, while 44.3% thought it was somewhat important. The proportion of women who considered lowering salt in their diet to be very or somewhat important was higher (84.1%) than that of men (78.4%) (Table 27).

Sex	Very important (%)	95% CI	Somewhat important (%)	95% CI	Not at all important (%)	95% CI
Men	34.5	29.9-39.1	43.9	39.5-48.3	21.6	17.7-25.5
Women	39.3	35.1-43.4	44.8	41.0-48.5	16.0	12.5-19.4
Both sexes	37.0	33.1-40.8	44.3	40.9-47.8	18.7	15.5–21.9

Answers to the question about the importance of lowering salt in the diet were significantly differentiated according to age. Overall, there were no major differences between urban and rural residents of both sexes in their answers to the question, but there were differences in their responses according to gender. For example, 35.7% of male urban residents thought it was very important, in contrast to 33% of rural residents, but more female rural residents believed in the importance of a low-salt diet than their urban counterparts – 40.4% versus 38.4%.

Respondents were asked what actions they took on a regular basis to control salt intake. Just over a third (35.8%; 31.3–40.3) of the study population, male and female, limited consumption of processed foods; 16.1% (12.6–19.6) replaced salt with spices during cooking; 15.2% (12.0–18.4) checked the salt or sodium content on food labels; and 26.9% (23.0–30.8) bought low-salt/sodium alternatives (Fig. 16).

Table 27. Percentage of populationthinking that lowering salt in the dietis important, by sex





4.5 Physical activity

The physical activity of the survey population was assessed by evaluating the intensity and duration of activities undertaken during work, travel and recreation. According to WHO recommendations on physical activity for health, adults should do at least 150 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity or 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity physical activity per week. Physical activity of respondents was assessed based on the extent to which the WHO recommendations were met.

The survey results showed that only one in five individuals in the study



population (19.1%; 15.9–22.3) failed to meet the WHO recommendations on physical activity for health. This finding (19.1%) was the same for both men (15.3–22.9) and women (15.5–22.6).

As shown in Fig. 17, there were slight differences between age groups (18–44 and 45–69) – 18.9% and 19.5%, respectively. However, the differences between the country's urban and rural populations were more visible, with a higher prevalence in urban areas.



Total physical activity per day included work-related, transport-related and recreation-related activities.

Overall, respondents carried out an average of 191.5 minutes of physical activity per day, with a statistically significant difference between men (215.2 minutes; 192.7–237.7) and women (168.9 minutes; 149.9–187.8).

No significant difference was recorded between age groups of the same sex. The survey showed that individuals in rural areas, both male and female, tended to take more physical activity than their urban counterparts. The highest mean difference was seen in men, with an average of 247.5 minutes (216.0–279.0) of physical activity in the rural population, compared with 188.0 minutes (156.6–220.0) in urban areas (Fig. 18).

Fig. 18. Mean number of minutes of total physical activity per day, by sex, age and setting



Fig. 17. Percentage of population
not meeting WHO recommendations
on physical activity for health, by sex,
age and settingAs shown in Fig. 17, there v
(18–44 and 45–69) – 18.9% and
between the country's urban
a higher prevalence in urban

Physical activity levels are possible to measure by considering the median time spent performing physical activity. The median duration of all physical activity carried out daily by all respondents was 128.6 (37.1–300.0) minutes – 145.7 (41.4–145.7) minutes for men and 120 (31.4–250.7) minutes for women. As shown in Table 28, the intensity of physical activity was inversely related to age among males, but this relationship was not observed in females. The median time spent carrying out physical activity was lower than the mean time.

Table 28. Median number of minutesof total physical activity on averageper day, by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men			Women	Both sexes		
	Minutes	Inter-quartile range (P25–P75)	Minutes	Inter-quartile range (P25–P75)	Minutes	Inter-quartile range (P25–P75)	
18-44	153.6	51.4-347.1	120.0	30.0-240.0	128.6	38.6-300.0	
45-69	128.6	30.0-317.1	124.3	34.3-270.0	124.3	34.3-300.0	
18–69	145.7	41.4-342.9	120.0	31.4-250.7	128.6	37.1-300.0	

Fig. 19 shows the distribution of mean minutes of total physical activity between different types of activity. The greatest differences between the sexes are seen in work-related and transport-related physical activities.

Fig. 19. Mean number of minutes spent per day in work-, transportand recreation-related physical activity, by sex



As for sedentary activities, men spent 203.6 minutes (191.8–215.4) on average per day, women only 189 minutes (177.7–200.4).

No vigorous physical activity was done by 91.4% of women (89.3–93.5) – much higher than the corresponding figure for men, 71.9% (68.0–75.8) (Table 29).

Table 29. Percentage of populationdoing no vigorous physical activity,by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	68.1	62.7-73.6	91.9	89.4-94.4	80.0	76.9-83.2
45-69	78.6	74.3-83.0	90.6	87.5-93.6	84.9	82.0-87.9
18-69	71.9	68.0-75.8	91.4	89.3-93.5	81.9	79.5-84.3





As shown in Fig. 20, almost 50% of all respondents (49.2%; 45.0–53.4) did not engage in any work-related activity; the corresponding figure for recreationrelated activity was 76.5% (73.3–79.6). In the case of no recreation-related physical activity, there was a slight difference between the 18–44 age group (72.9%) and the 45–69 age group (82.5%).



4.6 History of raised blood pressure

The current health status of the study population with respect to high blood pressure (BP) was assessed by asking respondents about their history of BP and treatment history.

Among all respondents, 33.1% (29.1–37.1) reported that their BP had never been measured; 45.2% (41.8–48.6) had undergone BP measurement but had not been diagnosed with hypertension; 5.2% (4.1–6.4) had been diagnosed with high BP more than a year prior to the interview; and 16.4% (14.6–18.3) had been diagnosed with hypertension within the 12 months prior to the interview.

As the prevalence of high BP is usually greater in elderly people, it follows that younger age groups reported more frequently that they had never been checked for or diagnosed with hypertension, while older age groups more frequently answered that they had been checked for and diagnosed with BP problems.

Some statistically significant differences between the sexes emerged in terms of raised BP history. A total of 38.4% of men (33.8–43.0) had never had their BP measured, compared with 28% of women (23.8–32.2).

The percentage of women diagnosed with high BP within the past 12 months was higher (18.9%; 16.4–21.3) than that of men (13.9%; 11.6–16.3) (Table 30).

Sex	Never measured (%)	95% CI	Measured, not diagnosed (%)	95% CI	Diagnosed, but not within past 12 months (%)	95% CI	Diagnosed within past 12 months (%)	95% CI
Men	38.4	33.8-43.0	42.5	38.4-46.6	5.2	3.5-6.9	13.9	11.6–16.3
Women	28.0	23.8-32.2	47.8	43.9–51.7	5.3	4.0-6.7	18.9	16.4-21.3
Both sexes	33.1	29.1-37.1	45.2	41.8-48.6	5.2	4.1-6.4	16.4	14.6-18.3

The largest proportions of the population who had never had their BP measured were found in the younger (18–44) age group and among urban residents, especially among males: 46.1% and 43.1%, respectively (Fig. 21).

Table 30. Distribution of populationby status of BP measurement anddiagnosis, by sex



Among those diagnosed with raised BP or arterial hypertension, 47.9% (42.5–53.3) responded that they were currently taking medication for raised BP prescribed by a doctor or health worker; the gender split was 42.1% (34.2–49.9) of men and 52.3% (46.4–58.3) of women. The percentage of men who had not taken any medication for raised BP was significantly higher than that of women.

When analysed by locality, there was no significant difference in medication use for arterial hypertension between the urban and rural populations. Only one fact is worthy of note – that women living in urban areas took medication more often than their rural counterparts (48.9% versus 46.8%). The difference between age groups was statistically significant, with an increase in the proportion of those taking medication from 29.1% (20.1–38.1) in the 18–44 age group to 57.5% (52.4–62.5) in the 45–69 age group (Table 31).

Fig. 21. Percentage of population who had never had BP measured, by sex, age and setting



Age group (years)	Men		We	omen	Both sexes		
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	
18–44	22.7	10.1-35.3	35.0	23.2-46.9	29.1	20.1-38.1	
45–69	53.8	45.2-62.4	60.0	54.0-66.0	57.5	52.4-62.5	
18-69	42.1	34.2-49.9	52.3	46.4-58.3	47.9	42.5-53.3	

Table 31. Percentage of populationdiagnosed with raised BP currentlytaking medication prescribed by adoctor or health worker, by sex andage

Of those previously diagnosed with raised BP, both male and female, 13.6% (10.0–17.3) had sought advice from a traditional healer.

Of those previously diagnosed with raised BP, both male and female, 21.8% (17.6–25.9) had taken a herbal or traditional remedy from a traditional healer.

4.7 History of diabetes

History of diabetes and compliance with diabetes treatment were also analysed during the survey.

Of the survey population, 71.8% (69.0–74.6) had never had their blood sugar measured; 23.5% (20.9–26.1) had had it measured but had not been diagnosed with raised blood sugar or diabetes; and 0.5% had been diagnosed with raised blood sugar or diabetes but not within the previous 12 months. Only 4.2% (3.5–5.0) of respondents had been diagnosed with raised blood sugar or diabetes within the past 12 months (Table 32). Significantly more respondents aged 45–69 years (9.8%; 8.2–11.5) had been diagnosed with raised blood sugar or diabetes than those aged 18–44 years (0.9%; 0.4–1.4). As Table 32 shows, the proportion of respondents who said that their blood sugar had never been measured was significantly higher among males than females (77.4% versus 66.3%); this difference was detected across all age groups.

Sex	Never measured (%)	95% CI	Measured, not diagnosed (%)	95% CI	Diagnosed, but not within past 12 months (%)	95% CI	Diagnosed within past 12 months (%)	95% CI
Men	77.4	74.2-80.7	19.1	16.0-22.2	0.4	0.1-0.8	3.1	2.1-4.0
Women	66.3	62.8-69.9	27.8	24.5-31.0	0.6	0.2-1.0	5.3	4.2-6.4
Both sexes	71.8	69.0-74.6	23.5	20.9–26.1	0.5	0.2-0.8	4.2	3.5-5.0

As shown in Fig. 22, there was a slight difference in the percentage of respondents who said that their blood sugar had never been measured by place of residence: 74.3% in rural areas (70.3–78.3) and 69.6% in urban areas (65.7–73.5).

Table 32. Distribution of populationby status of blood glucosemeasurement and diagnosis ofraised blood glucose or diabetes,by sex



Respondents who had previously been diagnosed with raised blood sugar or diabetes were asked whether they had taken any medication for diabetes (including insulin) prescribed by a health worker in the previous two weeks, or whether they were taking insulin for diabetes prescribed by a doctor or other health worker. Fig. 22. Percentage of population who had never had their blood glucose measured, by sex, age and setting

Some differences were identified between the sexes, with 72.9% of previously diagnosed men (59.7–86.2) and 77.8% of women (69.7–85.9) taking medication for diabetes prescribed by a doctor or health worker (Table 33). With respect to insulin, a more marked difference was found, with 17.7% of previously diagnosed men (7.2–28.3) and 24.2% of women (16.1–32.3) taking insulin prescribed by a doctor or health worker (Table 34).

Table 33. Percentage of populationpreviously diagnosed with diabetescurrently taking medication prescribedfor diabetes, by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	55.7	0.0-100.0	66.5	40.6-92.4	65.1	40.9-89.3
45-69	73.8	60.4-87.2	80.3	72.0-88.7	77.7	70.2-85.3
18–69	72.9	59.7-86.2	77.8	69.7-85.9	76.0	68.6-83.4

Age group (years)	Men		W	omen	Both sexes		
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	
18–44	0.0	0.0-0.0	37.8	10.1-65.5	32.9	7.9–58.0	
45-69	18.7	7.7-29.6	21.1	13.2-29.1	20.2	13.6–26.7	
18-69	17.7	7.2-28.3	24.2	16.1-32.3	21.9	15.3-28.5	

Respondents from rural areas with previously diagnosed raised blood sugar or diabetes took medication more often than their urban counterparts (79.7%; 68.9–90.5 versus 74.5%; 65.1–83.9); but they took insulin less frequently (15.3%; 5.5–25.2 versus 24.6%; 16.2–33.1).

Table 34. Percentage of populationpreviously diagnosed with diabetescurrently taking insulin prescribedfor diabetes, by age and sex



Of those previously diagnosed with diabetes, both male and female, 7.9% (3.7–12.1) had sought advice from a traditional healer.

Of those previously diagnosed with diabetes, both male and female, 17.2% (10.5–24.0) had taken herbal or traditional treatment from a traditional healer.

4.8 History of raised cholesterol

Overall, 89.9% (88.2–91.5) of respondents of all ages said that they had never had their blood cholesterol measured within a health-care facility, while 7.5% (6.0–9.0) had undergone a test for blood cholesterol but had not been diagnosed with raised cholesterol. Only 0.9% (0.6–1.2) of the study population had been diagnosed with a high level of cholesterol more than 12 months before the interview, while 1.7% (1.2–2.3) had been diagnosed within the past year. There was a statistically significant difference between age groups in this indicator: older respondents were diagnosed with a high level of blood cholesterol more frequently than younger respondents (Table 35).

Table 35. Distribution of populationby status of total cholesterolmeasurement and diagnosis, by age

There was no substantial difference between the sexes in terms of cholesterol measurement and diagnosis history.

Age group (years)	Never measured (%)	95% CI	Measured, not diagnosed (%)	95% CI	Diagnosed, but not within past 12 months (%)	95% CI	Diagnosed within past 12 months (%)	95% CI
18–44	93.2	91.6-94.8	6.0	4.4-7.6	0.2	0.0-0.4	0.6	0.2-1.0
45-69	84.2	81.5-87.0	10.1	8.0-12.1	2.0	1.2-2.9	3.7	2.5-4.9
18-69	89.9	88.2-91.5	7.5	6.0-9.0	0.9	0.6-1.2	1.7	1.2-2.3

Fig. 23. Percentage of population who had had no total cholesterol measurement and diagnosis, by sex, age and setting

Respondents aged 45–69 years and respondents living in urban areas had their total cholesterol level measured more often than other groups of respondents (Fig. 23).



Among those diagnosed with a high level of total blood cholesterol, 26.8% (14.9–38.6) had taken oral medication during the previous two weeks based on a prescription from a doctor or health worker. Of these respondents, 25.4% (8.6–42.2) were men and 27.8% (12.8–42.8) were women. In urban areas, men had taken oral medication twice as often as women.

Of those previously diagnosed with raised cholesterol, both male and female, 10.1% (3.7–16.5) had sought advice from a traditional healer.

Of those previously diagnosed with raised cholesterol, both male and female, 12.4% (5.3–19.5) had taken herbal or traditional treatment from a traditional healer.

4.9 History of CVD

Overall, 6.4% (5.1–7.8) of respondents reported that they had at some time had a heart attack or chest pain from heart disease (angina) or stroke. Predictably, a significant difference between age groups was observed: 3.0% (1.8–4.2) in the 18–44 age group and 12.3% (9.9–14.7) in the 45–69 age group. No significant difference was detected between men (6.0%; 4.6–7.4) and women (6.9%; 5.0–8.7), nor between rural and urban settings (6.7% and 6.2%, respectively).

The percentage of all respondents who reported regularly taking aspirin to prevent or treat heart disease was 4.6% (3.7-5.5); 1.7% (1.0-2.3) of respondents took statins for the same purpose. The proportion of women who reported using aspirin to prevent or treat CVDs was almost the same as that of men: 5.0% for males (3.8-6.3) and 4.2% for females (3.2-5.2). Similar trends were observed in the proportions of men and women using statins.

4.10 Lifestyle advice

Fig. 24 shows the percentage of respondents who had received various kinds of lifestyle advice from a doctor or health worker over the past three years.

- 31.7% (27.8–35.6) of respondents had been advised to stop smoking or not to start: 59.1% among men (52.2–65.9) and 13.5% among women (9.6–17.4).
- 56.7% (52.1–61.3) of respondents had been advised to reduce the salt in their diet: 57.2% among men (50.3–64.0) and 56.3% among women (50.7–61.9).
- 59.6% (54.6–64.6) of respondents had been advised to eat at least five servings of fruits and/or vegetables each day: 58.9% among men (51.6–66.2) and 60.0% among women (54.2–65.9).
- 52.1% (47.2–57.0) of respondents had been advised to reduce the fat in their diet: 54.6% among men (47.4–61.9) and 50.5% among women (44.8–56.1).
- 54.7% (50.3–59.1) of respondents had been advised to start or do more physical activity: 59.2% among men (53.1–65.4) and 51.6% among women (46.2–57.1).



• 47.5% (42.9–52.0) of respondents had been advised to maintain a healthy body weight or to lose weight: 56.6% among men (50.2–62.9) and 41.4% among women (36.0–46.7).

• 37.3% (32.9–41.8) of respondents had been advised to reduce sugary beverages: 43.9% among men (37.5–50.2) and 33.0% among women (27.9–38.1).



Fig. 24. Percentage of population advised by a doctor or health worker to make certain lifestyle choices, by sex

It is clear from Fig. 24 that advice on health was given by a doctor or health worker more frequently to men than to women. For each of the different pieces of advice, there was also a significant difference between age groups, with younger people receiving advice less frequently.

4.11 Cervical cancer screening

The next question, for female respondents only, asked whether they had ever had a screening test for cervical cancer.

The percentage of all the women aged 18–69 years participating in the study who reported that they had undergone a screening test for cervical cancer was only 9.0% (6.7–11.4). No significant difference was observed between the 18–44 age group (8.8%) and the 45–69 age group (9.3%) (Fig. 25). Among women respondents aged 30–49 years, the figure was 11.3% (8.2–14.3).

The frequency at which women aged 18–69 in urban areas had undergone cervical cancer screening was twice as high as their rural counterparts (11.6% versus 5.6%) (Fig. 25). Among women aged 30–49, the disparity between urban and rural areas was greater – 15.1% versus 6.1%.



Fig. 25. Percentage of females who had been screened for cervical cancer, by age and setting

4.12 Physical measurements

Hypertension as an NCD risk factor was assessed by means of $\ensuremath{\textbf{BP}}$ measurement.

The mean systolic blood pressure (SBP) among all respondents, including those currently on medication for raised BP, was 125.9 mmHg (124.0–127.0). The gender split was 127.0 mmHg for men (125.6–128.4) and 124.8 mmHg for women (123.4–126.2).

The mean diastolic blood pressure (DBP) among all respondents, including those currently on medication for raised BP, was 81.2 mmHg (80.4–82.0). The gender split was 81.5 mmHg for men (80.5–82.6) and 80.9 mmHg for women (80.1–81.8).

Mean SBP and DBP were higher for older respondents aged 45–69 than for their younger counterparts aged 18–44. While the SBP in the 45–69 age group was approximately 13% higher than in the 18–44 age group, the difference in DBP between the age groups was only about 9%. The differences between rural and urban residence groups were slight for both SBP and DBP (Fig. 26, 27).









Fig. 27. Mean DBP, by sex, age and setting

All respondents were assessed according to two levels of raised BP: the first consisting of those with SBP >140 mmHg and/or DBP >90 mmHg; the second consisting of those with SBP >160 mmHg and/or DBP >100 mmHg.

Table 36. Percentage of population with SBP >140 mmHg and/or DBP >90 mmHg, excluding those on medication for raised BP, by age and sex In the first group, the percentage of those with SBP \geq 140 mmHg and/or DBP \geq 90 mmHg, excluding those on medication for raised BP, was 21.6% (19.0–24.3); the gender split was 22.9% for men (19.0–26.9) and 20.3% for women (17.7–22.9) (Table 36).

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18-44	16.2	11.4-21.0	10.0	7.3–12.6	13.1	10.2-16.0
45-69	37.8	32.7-43.0	41.7	36.7-46.6	39.8	35.7-43.8
18-69	22.9	19.0-26.9	20.3	17.7-22.9	21.6	19.0-24.3

Table 37. Percentage of population with SBP >140 mmHg and/or DBP >90 mmHg or currently on medication for raised BP, by age and sex The percentage of those with SBP \geq 140 mmHg and/or DBP \geq 90 mmHg or taking medication for raised BP was 29.7% (27.2–32.1); the gender split was 29.3% for men (25.6–33.0) and 30.1% for women (27.5–32.7) (Table 37).

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	17.7	13.0-22.5	12.9	10.0-15.8	15.3	12.5–18.2
45-69	50.0	45.4-54.6	57.0	52.9-61.1	53.7	50.3-57.1
18-69	29.3	25.6-33.0	30.1	27.5-32.7	29.7	27.2-32.1

In the second group, the percentage of those with SBP ≥160 mmHg and/ or DBP ≥100 mmHg, excluding those on medication for raised BP, was 6.9% (5.6–8.2); the gender split was 6.1% for men (4.4–7.8) and 7.7% for women (6.1–9.3) (Table 38).

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	3.4	1.6-5.3	2.8	1.4-4.1	3.1	1.9-4.4
45-69	12.0	8.7-15.3	17.8	14.3-21.3	15.0	12.4-17.5
18–69	6.1	4.4-7.8	7.7	6.1-9.3	6.9	5.6-8.2

The percentage of those with an SBP \geq 160 mmHg and/or DBP \geq 100 mmHg or taking medication for raised BP was 16.5% (14.7–18.2); the gender split was 13.8% for men (11.5–16.1) and 19.0% for women (16.9–21.1) (Table 39).

Table 38. Percentage of population with SBP ≥160 mmHg and/or DBP ≥100 mmHg, excluding those on medication for raised BP, by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	5.3	3.0-7.5	6.0	4.0-8.0	5.6	4.0-7.2
45-69	29.2	25.1-33.4	39.5	35.8-43.2	34.6	31.7-37.6
18–69	13.8	11.5–16.1	19.0	16.9-21.1	16.5	14.7–18.2

As can be seen from these tables, there was a very clear and statistically significant difference between the ages groups. The percentage of respondents with controlled BP was higher in the urban population (12.5%; 9.0–16.0) than among those in rural areas (7.2%; 4.4–10.0). Also, there was a higher proportion of individuals with hypertension taking medication in urban areas than in rural ones.

In answer to the question: "During the past two weeks, have you been treated for raised BP with drugs (medication) prescribed by a doctor or other health worker?", 10.1% (7.8–12.3) of all respondents aged 18–69 were taking medication and did not have raised BP; 24.5% (20.8–28.2) were taking medication but still had elevated BP (SBP >140 mmHg and/or DBP >90 mmHg); and 65.4% (60.9–70.0) had elevated BP but were not taking medication. The proportion of women who were taking medication and had successfully controlled their BP (SPB <140 mmHg, DBP <90 mmHg) was twice that of men (Table 40).

Table 39. Percentage of populationwith SBP >160 mmHg and/orDBP >100 mmHg or currently onmedication for raised BP, by age andsex

Table 40. Percentage of populationwith treated and/or controlled raisedBP

Sex	On medication; SBP <140, DBP <90 (%)	95% CI	On medication; SBP ≥140 and/or DBP ≥90 (%)	95% CI	Not on medication; SBP ≥140 and/or DBP ≥90 (%)	95% CI
Men	6.4	3.9-9.0	21.6	16.4-26.7	72.0	66.0-78.0
Women	13.5	10.2-16.8	27.3	22.9-31.7	59.2	53.9-64.5
Both sexes	10.1	7.8–12.3	24.5	20.8-28.2	65.4	60.9-70.0

The mean heart rate of all respondents, measured in beats per minute (bpm), was 77.2 bpm. There was no significant difference in mean heart rate between males and females and between age groups (Table 41).



Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	bpm	95% CI	bpm	95% CI	bpm	95% CI
18-44	76.6	75.7-77.6	78.3	77.3-79.3	77.5	76.7–78.3
45-69	75.9	74.9-76.8	77.4	76.5-78.2	76.6	76.0-77.3
18-69	76.4	75.6-77.1	77.9	77.1-78.7	77.2	76.5-77.8

Table 41. Mean heart rate, by ageand sex

Fig. 28. Mean height, by sex, age and

setting

Anthropometric measurements such as height, weight, and waist and hip circumference were provided to calculate BMI and mean waist-to-hip ratio. The prevalence of overweight and obesity in the study population (excluding pregnant women), by age, sex and residential setting, were calculated on the basis of these measurements.

The measurements showed that men were, on average, substantially taller and heavier than women. Male respondents were, on average, 172.3 cm tall (171.8–172.9) and weighed 77.1 kg (76.2–78.0); females were, on average, 161.1 cm tall (160.5–161.7) and weighed 69.8 kg (68.8–70.7). No significant differences in mean height or mean weight between rural and urban residents were detected (Fig. 28, 29).



Fig. 29. Mean weight, by sex, age and setting



Mean BMI for all respondents was 26.0 kg/m² (25.7–26.2). Mean BMI for women (26.4 kg/m²; 26.0–26.9) was higher than for men (25.5 kg/m²; 25.2–25.8). Among all respondents, mean BMI was higher in the older age group than in the younger age group – 28.3 kg/m² (28.0–28.6) versus 24.6 kg/m² (24.3–24.9) (Table 42).

Table 42. Mean BMI, by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	kg/m²	95% CI	kg/m²	95% CI	kg/m²	95% CI
18–44	24.5	24.1-24.8	24.7	24.1-25.2	24.6	24.3-24.9
45-69	27.3	26.8-27.7	29.2	28.8-29.7	28.3	28.0-28.6
18–69	25.5	25.2-25.8	26.4	26.0-26.9	26.0	25.7-26.2

There was a slight difference in mean BMI among males and females according to place of residence. For men, mean BMI was higher in urban areas than in rural ones: 26.1 kg/m^2 (25.7-26.5) versus 25.8 kg/m^2 (25.5-26.2). For women, mean BMI was 27.1 kg/m^2 (26.5-27.7) in urban areas and 26.8 kg/m^2 (26.1-27.4) in rural ones (Fig. 30).

Fig. 30. Mean BMI, by sex, age and setting



All respondents were classified in one of four BMI categories: underweight (BMI <18.5 kg/m²), normal weight (BMI 18.5–24.9 kg/m²), overweight (BMI 25.0–29.9 kg/m²) and obese (BMI \geq 30.0 kg/m²). Of all respondents, 2.8% were underweight, 41.7% were of normal weight, 34.8% were overweight, and 20.6% were obese (Table 43).

Table 43. BMI classifications, by ageand sex

Sex	Underweight <18.5 kg/m² (%)	95% CI	Normal 18.5–24.9 kg/m²(%)	95% CI	Overweight 25.0–29.9 kg/m²(%)	95% CI	Obese ≥30.0 kg/ m²(%)	95% CI
Men	2.2	1.0-3.4	44.3	40.5-48.1	38.8	34.9-42.7	14.7	12.4-17.1
Women	3.5	2.1-4.9	39.1	35.9-42.2	30.9	27.9-33.9	26.5	23.5-29.5
Both sexes	2.8	1.9–3.7	41.7	39.2-44.2	34.8	32.4-37.3	20.6	18.5-22.7

REPUBLIC OF AZERBAIJAN

setting

Fig. 31. Percentage of population

(excluding pregnant women) with

BMI ≥25 kg/m², by age, sex and

There was a higher prevalence of obesity among female respondents (26.5%; 23.5-29.5) than among male respondents (14.7%; 12.4-17.1).

The prevalence of overweight and obesity (BMI >25) was higher in women (57.4%) than in men (53.5%), and in urban areas (55.9%) than in rural ones (54.9%). The prevalence of obesity was markedly higher in women (26.5%) than in men (14.7%). Overall, the proportion of respondents with BMI >25 was higher in the older age group (76.8%) than in the younger (42.7%) (Fig. 31).

Mean waist circumference was greater among men than among women (excluding pregnant women) - 92.3 cm (91.1-93.5) versus 88.2 cm (87.1-89.4).

However, mean hip circumference was smaller among men than among women (excluding pregnant women) – 99.1 cm (98.0–100.2) versus 103.4 cm (102.1 - 104.8).

4.13 Biochemical measurements

All respondents were asked if they currently received any treatment for diabetes (prescribed by a doctor or other health worker), insulin or oral drug (medication) that they had taken in the last two weeks.

The mean fasting blood glucose level was found to be 5.1 mmol/L (5.0–5.2) in the total study population, including those currently taking medication for diabetes. The gender split was 5.0 mmol/L (4.9–5.1) for men and 5.1 mmol/L (5.0-5.3) for women.

Among all respondents, the level of mean fasting blood glucose was lower in the younger group (4.8 mmol/L; 4.7–4.9) than in the older group (5.5 mmol/L; 5.4-5.7).

There was no significant difference in mean fasting blood glucose between rural and urban respondents (Fig. 32).





Impaired fasting glycaemia (IFG) was defined as a plasma venous value >6.1 mmol/L (110 mg/dl) and <7.0 mmol/L (126 mg/dl). IFG was detected in 5.0% of all respondents. A slight difference was observed between men (5.0%; 3.5–6.5) and women (4.9%; 3.8–6.1). Prevalence of IFG was almost three times higher in the older age group than in the younger (8.3% versus 3.0%) (Table 44).

Fig. 32. Mean fasting blood glucose, by sex, age and setting

Table 44. Percentage of populationwith IFG, by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18-44	3.6	1.8-5.5	2.3	1.1-3.6	3.0	1.8-4.1
45-69	7.5	4.8-10.2	9.1	6.9-11.2	8.3	6.6-10.0
18-69	5.0	3.5-6.5	4.9	3.8-6.1	5.0	4.0-5.9

For all respondents, prevalence of IFG was higher in urban areas than in rural areas – 6.1% (4.7–7.5) versus 3.7% (2.4–4.9).

Raised blood glucose was defined as a plasma venous value >7.0 mmol/L (126 mg/dl). The overall prevalence of raised blood glucose was 6.5% (5.4–7.6); the gender split was 5.2% (3.8–6.5) in men and 7.9% (6.4–9.4) in women. Raised blood glucose was found in 3.6% (2.4–4.8) of respondents in the 18–44 age group, and 11.5% (9.5–13.5) in the 44–69 age group (Table 45).

Table 45. Percentage of populationwith raised blood glucose orcurrently on medication for diabetes,by age and sex

Age group (years)	1	Men	Wa	omen	Both	sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	
18–44	2.3	0.9-3.8	4.9	3.3-6.5	3.6	2.4-4.8	
45-69	10.2	7.5–13.0	12.6	9.8–15.3	11.5	9.5-13.5	
18–69	5.2	3.8-6.5	7.9	6.4-9.4	6.5	5.4-7.6	



For all respondents, prevalence of raised blood glucose was more than twice as high in urban area as in rural ones – 8.7% (7–10.5) versus 4.0% (2.7–5.2).

Of all respondents, 4.1% (3.3–4.9) were currently on medication for diabetes. The percentage of respondents on medication was twice as high in women (5.4%; 4.2–6.6) as in men (2.7%; 1.9–3.5). There was a very significant difference between the 18–44 age group (1.0%; 0.5–1.5) and the 45–69 age group (9.2%; 7.5–10.9). Also, the proportion was more than twice as high in urban areas (5.3%; 4.0–6.6) as in rural ones (2.6%; 1.7–3.5).

Blood cholesterol level was checked in all respondents, including participants receiving cholesterol-lowering medication.

The overall mean total blood cholesterol level was found to be 4.4 mmol/L (4.3–4.5) in the study population. The gender split was 4.3 mmol/L (4.2–4.4) in men and 4.5 mmol/L (4.5–4.6) in women, indicating that there was no significant difference in level between the sexes. The mean total blood cholesterol level was slightly higher in the older age group than in the younger (Table 46). No significant difference in level was detected between rural and urban residents.

Table 46. Mean total blood cholesterol,by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	mmol/L	95% CI	mmol/L	95% CI	mmol/L	95% CI
18–44	4.1	4.0-4.2	4.3	4.2-4.4	4.2	4.1-4.3
45-69	4.6	4.5-4.7	4.9	4.8-5.0	4.8	4.7-4.9
18–69	4.3	4.2-4.4	4.5	4.5-4.6	4.4	4.3-4.5

A total of 26.9% of the study population had a blood cholesterol level >5 mmol/L (24.4–29.4), and 6.0% (4.9–7.1) >6.2 mmol/L (or were taking medication for hypercholesterolemia). There was a substantial difference between the sexes: 22.3% (19.0–25.6) of men had a blood cholesterol level >5 mmol/L or were taking medication for hypercholesterolemia, compared to 31.3% (28.1–34.5) of women; and 3.8% (2.7–5.0) of men had a blood cholesterol level >6.2 mmol/L or were taking medication for hypercholesterolemia, compared to 8.1% (6.4–9.8) of women (Fig. 33).



Fig. 33. Percentage of population with raised total cholesterol, by sex

The percentage of female respondents with raised total cholesterol >5.0 mmol/L currently taking medication for raised cholesterol was higher than for male respondents. This was also true for women with a blood cholesterol level >6.2 mmol/L (Fig. 34).



Fig. 34. Percentage of population with raised total cholesterol and currently taking medication for raised cholesterol, by sex

The mean level of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol in the blood among all respondents was 1.1 mmol/L (1.1–1.1).

No significant differences in the mean level of HDL were detected between males and females and between age groups. Among men, 51.7% (47.0–56.3) had an HDL level <1.03 mmol/L (Table 47). Among women, 68.8% (65.4–72.3) had an HDL level <1.29 mmol/L (Table 48).

Age group	I	Men
Age group (years)	%	95% CI
18–44	50.9	44.8-57.1
45-69	53.0	48.0-57.9
18–69	51.7	47.0-56.3

Table 47. Percentage of males withHDL <1.03 mmol/L, by age</td>

Age group	w	omen
(years)	%	95% CI
18-44	68.9	64.3-73.4
45-69	68.8	65.1-72.5
18–69	68.8	65.4-72.3

Mean intake of salt per day among all respondents was examined. The WHO recommendation is less than 5 g salt or 2 g sodium per person per day.

Table 48. Percentage of females withHDL <1.29 mmol/L, by age</td>



Overall, mean salt intake in the study population was 10.0 g/day (9.9–10.2). Differences between the younger and older age groups were almost negligible (9.8 g/day versus 10.4 g/day, respectively). There was a significant gender difference in mean salt intake: 11.4 g/day for men (11.2–11.6) and 8.6 g/ day for women (8.5–8.8) (Table 49).

Table 49.	Mean salt intake	, by age	Ś
and sex			

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	g/day	95% CI	g/day	95% CI	g/day	95% CI
18-44	11.1	10.8–11.3	8.5	8.3-8.7	9.8	9.6-10.0
45-69	12.1	11.9-12.3	8.8	8.7-9.0	10.4	10.2-10.5
18–69	11.4	11.2-11.6	8.6	8.5-8.8	10.0	9.9-10.2

Respondents living in rural areas consumed more salt per day than urban citizens (Fig. 35).



Fig. 35. Mean salt intake (g/day), by sex, age and setting

4.14 CVD risk

To assess CVD risk, only respondents aged 40 years and over were considered. These were divided into two age groups – 40–54 years and 55–69 years. The proportion of these respondents with a 10-year CVD risk >30% was determined by combining the instrument questions from Steps 1, 2 and 3. Relevant data to determine a 10-year CVD risk >30% were BP, smoking status (current smokers or individuals who had stopped smoking less than one year before the assessment), total cholesterol, and diabetes (previously diagnosed or with a fasting plasma glucose concentration >7.0 mmol/L). Respondents meeting these criteria were added to those who had an existing CVD.

The percentage of respondents with a 10-year CVD risk ≥30% or with existing CVD was 12.6% (10.4–14.8). The percentage of men was higher than that of women (13.3% versus 12.0%). Also, the levels of this indicator were different between the two newly created age groups, with a prevalence among people

aged 55–69 years that was more than twice as high as among those aged 40–54 years (18.8% versus 8.6%) (Table 50).

Table 50. Percentage of population (aged 40 and over) with a 10-year CVD risk >30% or with existing CVD, by age and say

				D	y age and sex	
Age group	Men		Women		Both sexes	
(years)	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
40-54	8.6	5.1-12.0	8.7	5.8-11.6	8.6	6.3-11.0
55–69	20.8	15.5-26.1	17.0	13.1-21.0	18.8	15.3-22.3
40-69	13.3	10.3-16.3	12.0	9.4-14.6	12.6	10.4-14.8

The proportion of respondents with a 10-year CVD risk \geq 30% or existing CVD was higher in urban areas (13.5%) than in rural areas (11.7%) (Fig. 36).



From the group of respondents (40–69 years old, with a 10-year CVD risk >30%, including those with existing CVD), more than half – 51.7% (44.0–59.5) – were receiving drug therapy and counselling (including glycaemic control) to prevent heart attacks and strokes. The types of counselling and advice received from a doctor included: to stop or not start smoking; to reduce salt in the diet; to eat at least five servings of fruits and/or vegetables per day; to reduce fat in the diet; to start or do more physical activity; and to maintain a healthy body weight or lose weight. A higher proportion of men than women were receiving drug therapy and counselling (57.9% versus 45.6%), and a higher proportion of older respondents than younger ones (56.9% versus 44.5%) (Table 51).

Fig. 36. Percentage of population (aged 40 and over) with a 10-year CVD risk ≥30% or existing CVD, by age, sex and setting

Table 51. Percentage of eligiblepopulation receiving drug therapyand counselling to prevent heartattacks and strokes, by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
40-54	52.2	29.9-74.5	37.6	22.5-52.8	44.5	31.1-57.9
55-69	61.6	48.8-74.4	51.8	39.9-63.8	56.9	47.8-66.1
40-69	57.9	46.1-69.6	45.6	36.1-55.1	51.7	44.0-59.5

The percentage of women receiving drug therapy and counselling to prevent heart attacks and strokes was almost twice as high in urban areas as in rural areas (Fig. 37).





Fig. 37. Percentage of eligible population receiving drug therapy and counselling to prevent heart attacks and strokes, by age, sex and setting

Table 52. Summary of combined risk

factors, by sex

4.15 Summary of combined risk factors

For the purpose of exploring combined risk factors, respondents were placed in one of three categories, based on their possession of five major risk factors (determined by combining the instrument questions from Steps 1 and 2). The five major risk factors were:

(1) current daily smoker

(2) less than five servings of fruits and vegetables per day

(3) low level of activity (<600 MET-minutes per week)

(4) overweight or obese (BMI ≥25 kg/m²)

(5) raised BP (SBP >140 mmHg and/or DBP >90 mmHg or currently on medication for raised BP).

The first category was "0 risk factors"; the second "1–2 risk factors"; and the third "3–5 risk factors". The percentages of respondents in each category are presented in Table 52. Only 5.8% (4.5–7.1) of all respondents had no NCD risk factors, whereas 61.7% (59.2–64.2) had 1–2 risk factors; the remaining 32.5% (29.9–35.0) had a combination of 3–5 risk factors.

The proportion of men with a combination of 3–5 risk factors (40.0%; 36.0–44.0) was higher than among women (24.9%; 22.1–27.7). In the group with no risk factors, there was no significant difference between males and females (Table 52).

Sex	0 risk factors (%)	95% CI	1–2 risk factors (%)	95% CI	3–5 risk factors (%)	95% CI
Men	5.4	3.6-7.3	54.6	50.5-58.6	40.0	36.0-44.0
Women	6.2	4.4-8.0	68.9	65.9-71.9	24.9	22.1-27.7
Both sexes	5.8	4.5-7.1	61.7	59.2-64.2	32.5	29.9-35.0

Prevalence of noncommunicable disease risk factors in the Republic of Azerbaijan

The percentage of all respondents with 3-5 combined risk factors was higher in the older age group (49.9%; 46.7–53.2) than in the younger group (22%; 18.7–25.3) (Fig. 38). By contrast, the proportion with 1–2 risk factors was higher in the younger group (70.1%; 66.6–73.5) than in the older group (47.8%; 44.7–50.8).

Fig. 38. Percentage of population with 3–5 risk factors, by sex, age and setting



4.16 Mental health/suicide

Of all respondents, 1.2% had seriously considered attempting suicide in the preceding 12 months (Table 53). The percentage of women who had seriously considered attempting suicide in the past 12 months (1.4%) was slightly higher than that of men (1.0%); however, this difference was not statistically significant. No significant difference was observed between urban and rural areas either (Table 54).

Table 53. Percentage of individualswho had considered attemptingsuicide in the preceding 12 months,by age and sex

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
18–44	1.1	0.0-2.3	1.5	0.7-2.3	1.3	0.5-2.1
45-69	0.9	0.0-1.8	1.1	0.4-1.8	1.0	0.4-1.6
18–69	1.0	0.2-1.9	1.4	0.8–1.9	1.2	0.7-1.7

Age group (years)	Men		Women		Both sexes	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
Rural	0.6	0.0-1.4	0.6	0.1-1.1	0.6	0.1-1.1
Urban	1.4	0.1-2.7	2.0	1.1-2.9	1.7	0.9-2.6
Total	1.0	0.2–1.9	1.4	0.8–1.9	1.2	0.7-1.7

Of the women who had seriously considered suicide, only 25.0% (eight women) had sought professional help. 0.4% of the study population had made a suicide plan in the preceding 12 months. Significantly more women (12 individuals) had made such a plan than men (a single individual). About

Table 54. Percentage of individualswho had considered attemptingsuicide in the preceding 12 months,by sex and setting



1.0% of respondents had ever attempted suicide, of whom 30.0% had attempted it in the previous 12 months. Of those who had attempted suicide, about 32.0% reported using medication or drugs to poison themselves, and 26.0% reported using a razor, knife or other sharp instrument. About 0.7% of respondents reported that they had someone in their close family who had attempted suicide, and 0.4% reported that they had someone in their close family who had died from suicide.

4.17 Violence and injury

The percentage of drivers or passengers of a motor vehicle who did not always use a seat belt during the past 30 days was 53.0%. This indicator was higher for women (67.1%) than men (40.8%). Analysed by locality, seat belt use was lower among urban residents than among their rural counterparts (Fig. 39).



The majority (88.3%) of respondents who rode a motorcycle or scooter did not always wear a helmet (86.2% of men, 92.2% of women). Only 5.2% of respondents always used a helmet when riding a bicycle (6.7% of men, 3.3% of women).

The percentage of respondents who had been involved in a road traffic crash over the past 12 months was 2.8%; of these, 30.0% had serious injuries requiring medical attention.

The percentage of respondents who had driven a motorized vehicle after having had two or more alcoholic drinks in the past 30 days was 1.9% (3.6% men and 0.3% women). Overall, 4.4% of respondents (5.1% of men and 3.8% of women) reported that over the past 30 days they had taken a ride in a motorized vehicle in which the driver had consumed two or more alcoholic drinks before driving.

The proportion of respondents who had a non-road traffic-related injury that required medical attention was 4.4%. A breakdown of the different types of

Fig. 39. Percentage of drivers or passengers not always using a seatbelt over the past 30 days, by age, sex and setting injury revealed that the most common causes of serious injury (other than road traffic accidents) that required medical attention were falls (58.8%), cuts (16.2%) and burns (10.2%) (Fig. 40).





51

Among those injured in non-road traffic-related accidents, 48.2% got injured at home; of these, significantly more were women than men (70.3%; 55.4–85.2 versus 29.2%; 13.8–44.6). Of those injured elsewhere, 12.3% were injured at their workplace or school, 16.5% outdoors on the street, and 10.2% in sports/athletic settings.

About 2.5% of respondents had been involved in a violent incident over the previous 12 months resulting in an injury that required medical attention (3.5% of men, 1.6% of women). Respondents who reported being frightened for their safety (5.8% of the whole study population) claimed that it was due to someone within the family (55.1%), a stranger (26.9%), or a friend or acquaintance (15.0%).

The proportion of respondents who reported being physically abused during childhood by a parent or other adult in the household was 36.1%.

A total 1.0% of respondents reported that they had been sexually abused during childhood (about 0.9% of men, 1.1% of women). About 0.4% of respondents reported being sexually abused during adulthood – 0.47% of men (four individuals) and 0.49% of women (eight individuals).





5. Discussion

5.1 Tobacco

The prevalence of tobacco use, both smoked and smokeless products combined, was 24.0%. One in every two men was a current smoker (48.8%), whereas only 0.2% of women reported smoking at the time of the interview. There could be underreporting among women because of local customs. In comparison with the data obtained in the 2011 STEPS survey in Azerbaijan, the number of current smokers among men had decreased slightly from 49.5% to 48.8%. According to DHS 2006, smoking was common among men of age 15–59 in the Republic of Azerbaijan, with about half reporting that they were smokers (49.8%). SSC data from 2015 indicated that 35.9% of men over 15 years of age reported that they were smokers.

In the new 2017 STEPS survey, the percentage of current smokers among male respondents was higher in the younger age group (49.3%) than in the older age group (47.8%). There was a slight difference in the percentage of current male smokers by place of residence: 49.2% in urban areas and 48.3% in rural areas. The survey showed that men started smoking at 18.7 years, with little difference between the male age groups: 18.3 years for the 18–44 age group and 19.4 years for the 45–69 age group. The mean duration of smoking among male daily smokers was 20.4 years; the duration was longer for older respondents than for those in the younger group (33.9 versus 13.1 years). Among daily smokers, 95.1% reported that they used manufactured cigarettes. The mean number of manufactured cigarettes smoked per day by daily smokers was 18.9 for all age groups.

In DHS 2006, over 90% of current smokers reported that they had smoked 10 or more cigarettes over the previous 24 hours. The likelihood that a man smoked increased with age. The STEPS 2011 survey found that men smoked on average 20 cigarettes per day. The mean age at which tobacco smoking started for daily smokers was around 19 years overall, and the mean duration of smoking was 21.5 years.

In STEPS 2017, among currently smoking male respondents, about 49.5% had tried to stop smoking during the previous year. Nearly a quarter of respondents (24.9%) had been exposed to second-hand smoke at home during the 30 days preceding the survey, while almost one in five (18.3%) had been exposed at the workplace. The greatest level of exposure to smoke was found at the workplace for men (28.4%) and at home for women (23.3%). In STEPS 2011, the greatest exposure level was found in public places for men (76.6%) and at home for women (41.2%). These figures show that smoke exposure significantly decreased between 2011 and 2017. In the 2017 survey, a small percentage of men also reported the use of shisha and smokeless tobacco.

5.2 Alcohol

Current consumption of alcohol occurred almost exclusively among males: 27.6% of men and only 0.8% of women reported that they currently drank alcohol. In the STEPS 2017 survey, the proportion of lifetime abstainers was 70.3%, which was higher than the figure reported in STEPS 2011 (65.7%). According to DHS 2006, 40% of men aged 15–59 had consumed at least one alcoholic beverage in the month prior to the interview. All these figures show a positive trend in decreasing level of alcohol consumption in Azerbaijan.

Regarding place of residence, men in rural areas were more likely to consume alcohol than men in urban areas (28.4% versus 26.9%). About 1.7% of men in the study population drank alcohol every day. These findings correspond to those in STEPS 2011, which reported daily alcohol consumption in 1.8% of men. However, if we compare figures for males who consumed alcohol less than once a month, in STEPS 2011 this indicator was 40.4%, whereas in the 2017 survey it had increased to 46.8%. In STEPS 2017, current male drinkers had consumed at least one alcoholic drink on 3.9 occasions in the past 30 days (in STEPS 2011, the figure was 3.0); current female drinkers did so on 1.8 occasions.

5.3 Diet

The average number of days per week on which fruits and vegetables were consumed was 5.1 for fruits and 5.9 for vegetables. Both values represent an increase on those reported in STEPS 2011, where the figure for fruits was 4.0 and for vegetables 5.0. The largest proportion of respondents of both sexes – 43.6% – consumed 1–2 servings of fruits and/or vegetables per day. About 6.6% of all respondents reported not consuming fruits or vegetables at all – 7.5% of men and 5.6% of women.

When considered by age group, older respondents tended to have more fruits and/or vegetables than younger respondents. Almost 60% of respondents had been advised by a doctor or health worker to eat more fruits and vegetables. However, only 24.1% of respondents had met the WHO recommendation of five or more servings of fruits and/or vegetables per day. The percentage of those eating less than five servings of fruits and/or vegetables on average per day for all respondents was 75.9% (compared to 78.6% in STEPS 2011).

Azerbaijan has a good climate that is favourable for agriculture and even exports some seasonal fruits and vegetables. In spite of this, consumption of these products locally was low. Interestingly, consumption of fruits and vegetables by the urban population exceeded that of the rural population. The likely explanation of this is that people living in rural areas are relatively poor compared to their urban counterparts.



5.4 Dietary salt

Azerbaijani citizens consumed, on average, 10 g of salt per day, almost double the WHO-recommended level of 5 g per day. There was a significant gender difference in mean salt intake, with men consuming 11.4 g per day and women 8.6 g. A quarter of all respondents (25.7%) reported that they added salt before or while eating, with a higher prevalence among men (26.6%) than among women (24.8%); this behaviour was slightly more common in rural areas (24.0%) than in urban ones (22.8%).

The proportion of respondents who often consumed processed food high in salt was 26.6%, with more men (29.6%) reporting this behaviour than women (23.8%); it was also more prevalent in urban areas (30.9%) than in rural ones (21.5%). 73.1% of the study population thought that high salt consumption had adverse health effects, but 24.9% of women and 29% of men did not agree.

5.5 Physical activity

Sufficient physical activity, defined by WHO as at least 2.5 hours of moderateintensity activity per week, is needed to reduce the risk of developing chronic NCDs. The survey results showed that only about one in five individuals in the study population failed to meet the WHO recommendation. There was no noticeable difference between age groups and genders, but there was a visible difference between places of residence, with urban respondents less often meeting the WHO recommendation than their rural counterparts.

Overall, 56.3% of respondents reported having a high level of physical activity (men 60.3%, women 52.5%). In comparison, the STEPS 2011 survey found that 44.1% of respondents reported having a high level of physical activity, with a greater proportion of men (50.9%) than women (38.3%). All respondents carried out, on average, 191.5 minutes of physical activity per day, with a statistically significant difference between men (215.2 minutes) and women (168.9 minutes). This represented a considerable increase in the level of activity in the period following the STEPS 2011 survey, when the corresponding figures for men were 212 minutes, for women 139 minutes, and for both sexes 172 minutes.

The median duration of all physical activity carried out daily reported by all respondents was 128.6 minutes – 145.7 minutes among men and 120 minutes among women. The median time spent carrying out physical activity was lower than the mean time. The intensity of physical activity was inversely related to age in men, but this relationship was not observed in women. 91.4% of women did not engage in vigorous physical activity, compared to 71.9% in men. Based on these findings, it is important that the adult population, especially women, are advised to engage more intensively in physical activity.

5.6 Cervical cancer screening

Access to cervical cancer screening is necessary for the prevention and control of one of the leading cancers in Azerbaijan. Only about one in 10 (11.3%) women aged 30–49 years had ever had a screening test for cervical cancer. Women aged 18–69 in urban areas reported that they had undergone cervical cancer screening more than twice as often as their rural counterparts.

5.7 Overweight and obesity

Anthropometric measurements such as height, weight, and waist and hip circumference were provided to calculate BMI and mean waist-to-hip ratio. Height and weight measurements showed that men were substantially taller and heavier than women. The same trend was observed in men and women in the 2011 STEPS survey. Mean BMI for all respondents was 26.0 kg/m². and was higher for women (26.4 kg/m²) than for men (25.5 kg/m²). Mean BMI was higher in the older age group than in the younger. Of all respondents, 2.8% were underweight, 41.7% had normal weight, 34.8% were overweight, and 20.6% were obese. The prevalence of obesity was substantially higher in women (26.5%) than in men (14.7%); this was more than 1.8 times higher, compared to a ratio of 1.7 in STEPS 2011. According to DHS 2011, the mean BMI for women aged 15–49 was 25.2 kg/m², and the percentage of obese women in the same age group was 18.6%. Thus, the results from various surveys tend to point in the same direction, showing that overweight and obesity are especially problematic for women in Azerbaijan - a situation that is likely to get worse in the absence of concrete policy actions to address the issue.

5.8 Raised BP (hypertension)

Mean SBP in the survey population was 125.9 mmHg, with higher values found in men (127.0 mmHg). Mean DBP was 81.2 mmHg, with slight differences between the sexes. These values are lower than those derived from the STEPS 2011 survey (SBP 137 mmHg, DBP 84 mmHg).

The mean heart rate of respondents was 77.2 bpm, with higher values for women (77.9) than for men (76.4). The same trend was observed in STEPS 2011, where the mean heart rate for women (84) was higher than for men (81).

Of all respondents, 33.1% reported that their BP had never been measured. Compared to the value obtained in STEPS 2011 (17%), the result for this indicator had almost doubled. A total of 38.4% of men had never had their BP measured, compared with 28% of women. The percentage of women diagnosed with high BP within the preceding 12 months was higher than that of men (18.9% versus 13.9%).

According to DHS 2006 and 2011, the prevalence of hypertension among women fell from 16.4% in 2006 to 13% in 2011.

The percentage of men who had not taken any medication for raised BP was significantly higher than that of women. The survey revealed that, across the entire sample population, the prevalence of hypertension (SBP



>140 mmHg and/or DBP >90 mmHg, excluding those on medication for raised BP) was 21.6%. This figure rose to 29.7% when those currently using medication were included. There was no significant difference in hypertension prevalence between men and women (29.3% versus 30.1%). The percentage of respondents with controlled BP was higher in urban areas (12.5%) than in rural areas (7.2%).

Some 65.4% of respondents with increased BP were not taking any medication, with a higher proportion of men (72.0%) than women (59.2%). The percentage of respondents diagnosed with raised BP currently taking medication prescribed by a doctor or health worker increased with the age of respondents, reflecting the natural history of hypertension (from 29.1% in the 18–44 age group to 57.5% in the 45–69 age group).

Efforts made to increase respondents' awareness of the lifestyle modifications needed to address raised BP were inadequate. Specifically, 47.5% of respondents had received advice to lose weight, 52.1% to reduce fat in their diet, 54.7% to start or to do more physical activity, and only 31.7% to stop smoking or not to start. These findings revealed that awareness-raising efforts to modify lifestyle factors contributing to hypertension were generally insufficient.

5.9 Raised blood glucose (diabetes mellitus)

Of the survey population, 71.8% had never had their blood glucose measured. This marked an increase on the figure obtained in the STEPS 2011 survey, where 62.3% of all respondents answered that their blood sugar had never been measured. The prevalence of diabetes diagnosed within the preceding 12 months was 4.2% (men 3.1%, women 5.3%), while 0.5% of respondents had been diagnosed but not within the past 12 months. Among those with diabetes, 21.9% were receiving insulin and 76.0% were taking oral drugs for diabetes. Some differences were identified between the sexes, with 72.9% of men and 77.8% of women taking medication for diabetes. A greater difference was found in those taking insulin (men 17.7%, women 24.2%). The prevalence of IFG was 5.0% (men 5.0%, women 4.9%). For all respondents, IFG levels were almost twice as high in urban areas as in rural ones.

The prevalence of diabetes mellitus, including those on medication, for all respondents was 6.5% (women significantly more than men – 7.9% versus 5.2%). Again, the proportion in urban areas was more than twice as high as in rural areas – 5.3% versus 2.6%. The prevalence of self-reported diabetes was a little lower (4.7%) than the prevalence of raised blood glucose or currently being on medication for diabetes (6.5%). These findings indicate that screening efforts to detect elevated blood glucose levels are currently insufficient.

5.10 Abnormal lipids

Over a quarter of the study population (26.9%) had raised blood cholesterol (>5.0 mmol/L), including those currently on medication for hypercholesterolemia. Women accounted for a significantly larger proportion of this figure than men (31.3% compared to 22.3%). However, the figure represented a fall in comparison with previous years.³⁴

5.11 CVD risk and history of CVDs

The percentage of those aged 40–69 years with a 10-year cardiovascular risk >30% or with existing CVD was 12.6% (men 13.3%, women 12.0%). Within this group, the prevalence among people aged 55–69 was more than twice as high as among those aged 40–54 (18.8% versus 8.6%). From this group of respondents, more than half (51.7%) were receiving drug therapy and counselling (including glycaemic control) to prevent heart attacks and strokes. The percentage of men in this group of respondents was higher than that of women (57.9% versus 45.6%). The percentage of all respondents who had had a heart attack or chest pain from heart disease (angina) or a stroke was 6.4%; of these, only 4.6% were taking aspirin and 1.7% statins to prevent or treat heart disease.

5.12 Combined risk factors

Only 5.8% of all respondents did not have any risk factors for NCDs; 61.7% had 1–2 risk factors and the remaining 32.5% a combination of 3–5 risk factors. In the 2011 STEPS survey, the percentage of respondents who did not have any risk factors was 3.6%, while 43.9% had 3–5 risk factors. The percentage of all respondents with 3–5 combined risk factors was markedly higher in the older age group (49.9%) than in the younger group (22%).

The proportion of men with a combination of 3–5 risk factors (40.0%) was higher than that of women (24.9%). These results show that the current high prevalence of NCD risk factors among Azerbaijani men, in particular, has a negative impact on their life expectancy and quality of life.

5.13 Injuries

Regular use of seat belts is one of the important measures in mitigating the potential negative impacts of traffic accidents. Another major cause of accidents is drink–driving. Despite the fact that, according to SSC data, the number of traffic accidents was decreasing from year to year, 760 people died in 2016 as a result of traffic accidents and about 40 road accident cases were associated with drink–driving. According to STEPS 2017 data, more than half of drivers or passengers of a motor vehicle (53.0%) had not always used a seat belt over the preceding 30 days; the figure was higher for women (67.1%) than men (40.8%). Overall, 4.4% of respondents reported that they had taken a ride in a motorized vehicle where the driver had consumed two or more alcoholic drinks before driving. The lower rate of seat belt use by women than men could be explained by the fact that significantly more men currently drive and hence that women are less informed about road traffic safety issues. Similar to seat belt use, the rate of helmet use by motorcycle and bicycle riders was low.



6. Recommended actions

The main findings of STEPS 2017, the second NCD risk factor survey in the Republic of Azerbaijan, were as follows.

Overall, tobacco use was relatively low, but very high among men. Alcohol consumption was also high among males. Lifestyle factors such as overweight and obesity were found to be generally high, especially among females. The prevalence of both diagnosed and undiagnosed hypertension and diabetes mellitus was found to be high. The prevalence of abnormally high levels of blood lipids was also found to be significant. Almost all the survey respondents had at least one of the major NCD risk factors.

Based on these findings, the key recommendations are as follows.

- Based on the information generated by the survey, existing NCD policies and strategies should be adapted and tailored to effectively tackle the prevailing NCD risk factors in the Republic of Azerbaijan. The main focus should be on tobacco use, healthy diet, physical activity, and prevention and control of hypertension and diabetes. Examples of possible actions include increasing leisure time activity; raising rates of screening for elevated BP, glucose and cholesterol; and addressing the dangers of second-hand smoke in the workplace. Effective implementation of these policies is urgent.
- It is necessary to ensure that the information obtained by this research reaches all stakeholders, especially policy-makers, programme managers and researchers in the design and implementation of interventions for prevention and control of NCDs.
- In order to promote interventions for prevention and control of NCDs and to reduce the risk factors associated with them, a comprehensive approach is needed that will involve all sectors, including the Ministries of Health, Education, Youth and Sport, and Trade, mass media and local nongovernmental organizations.
- NCD prevention and control programmes should be integrated into other primary health-care services, such as reproductive health, school health, adolescent care, and care of the elderly.
- National surveys should be conducted every three to five years to measure trends in NCD risk factors over time and to evaluate NCD prevention and control programmes; this should include further expansion of risk factors and updating of performance indicators.
- The national health system should be provided with the necessary infrastructure, human resources, diagnostic tools, drugs and other equipment to adequately address NCD problems at all levels.

- NCD screening/early detection services should be improved, strengthened and integrated into primary health-care services. For example, a special tool such as the globally promoted WHO Package of Essential Noncommunicable (PEN) Disease Interventions could be adopted in primary health-care services to increase the coverage of NCD services.³⁵ Facilities should be equipped with basic diagnostic and management infrastructure. Essential NCD drugs should be made more available and accessible, especially to the poor. Primary health-care workers' competencies in counselling should be improved. Training and upgrading of primary health-care providers' knowledge and skills in NCD risk factors should be strengthened.
- A multisectoral agency with extensive authority and a large budget to oversee NCD prevention and control activities should be established under the direction of the Ministry of Health. In addition, a comprehensive national surveillance and monitoring framework should be implemented to measure progress towards national goals and targets for NCD prevention and control. The monitoring and evaluation system should comprise both strategy assessment and problem detection and elimination, as well as providing the information required to implement appropriate action. Currently, however, there are no nationally representative data or established systems for ongoing data collection, to guide NCD-related policy and decision-making. To develop and maintain such a system, public health research should receive adequate funding, particularly to study cost-effective measures and population-level interventions.
- Health workers should be encouraged to act as role models and be motivated to give healthy lifestyle advice to the public, because many respondents in this survey reported that the advice on health and nutrition given by health professionals was less than optimal.
- The public's level of knowledge about NCDs should be improved at the individual level in certain areas, including knowledge of body weight, BP, etc. ("know your numbers").
- There should be brainstorming of ways to enhance health education programmes, including targeted use of mass media and new communication technologies.
- Revolutionary changes are taking place in medical information technologies, including telemedicine, artificial intelligence, portable mobile devices and self-care devices, which in the near future will change the ways of preventing and treating NCDs and other diseases. The national health system needs to be ready for these changes and to adequately address them in preparing policies, self-care programmes for elderly patients to improve disease prophylaxis, monitoring and control.
- Innovative communication technologies, including social media, video channels and medical applications for smartphones, should also be used to provide adequate health education at the level of health-care services.



- Routine and regular physical examinations, including measurements of arterial BP, blood sugar, cholesterol and weight, should be promoted.
- According to both STEPS surveys, the prevalence of tobacco use did not actually change between 2011 and 2017 and remains at a high level. An attempt should be made to enforce existing law relating to tobacco and prevention of second-hand smoking. For example, it is necessary to develop strong monitoring mechanisms to ensure that the law is observed and to identify new challenges, such as electronic cigarettes, shisha and indoor smoking, and measures that target smoking among young people.
- Comprehensive alcohol control strategies should be developed, focusing on reduction of alcohol consumption among young people. Comparison of the 2011 and 2017 surveys shows a positive downward trend in the level of alcohol consumption in Azerbaijan. However, specific areas need to be targeted: for instance, men in urban areas are more likely to consume alcohol than their rural counterparts, so healthy lifestyle advice needs to directed more intensively at urban males.
- Interventions should be introduced to increase consumption of fruits and vegetables in the Azerbaijani population, which is low in spite of the country's favourable climate for agriculture. National recommendations encouraging good diet and physical activity should be developed further and promoted through the media. The NCD prevention and control strategy should also include targeted programmes to improve consumption of fruits and vegetables, for instance among females and in the rural population.
- Many people are not aware of the harm caused by salty foods, so public information activity in this area should be intensified. In addition, comprehensive policies and structural interventions should be devised and implemented in all sectors to improve access to healthy foods for all people. Other measures should include mandatory food labelling, bans on advertising of unhealthy foods in mass media, taxes on unhealthy foods, and reformulation of manufactured food standards in terms of salt, sugar and fats.
- Action is required at the national level to develop community-based physical activity programmes that meet local health needs. In all sectors, interventions are needed to promote physical activity in different settings and to develop the required access infrastructure. Health education programmes are helpful in raising awareness of healthy lifestyles and should target all population subgroups. School settings are particularly important in empowering younger people to make healthy choices. Azerbaijan is close, geographically and culturally, to eastern countries which are actively practising health-giving and healing systems such as yoga, meditation and naturopathy; these cover many aspects of healthy lifestyle, behaviours and food habits, and should be promoted and integrated into the primary health-care system.

- A Pap smear screening programme should be introduced at government level as a routine service in health-care settings. At the same time, it is necessary to increase women's awareness of the importance of undergoing this test.
- The incidence of road traffic accidents shows that improved education to encourage behavioural change is needed in this area. At the same time, it is essential that appropriate actions and measures are properly enforced.





References

- Noncommunicable diseases [online fact sheet]. Updated 13 April 2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ noncommunicable-diseases, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 2 NCDs, poverty and development [online information hub]. WHO Global Coordination Mechanism on the Prevention and Control of NCDs. Geneva: World Health Organization; [n.d.] [https://www.who.int/global-coordination-mechanism/ncd-themes/povertydevelopment/en, accessed 14 May 2021].
- 3 Noncommunicable diseases [online fact sheet]. Updated 13 April 2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 [https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ noncommunicable-diseases, accessed 18 July 2021].
- 4 Hackam DG, Spence JD. Combining multiple approaches for the secondary prevention of vascular events after stroke: a quantitative modeling study. Stroke. 2007;38(6):1881–5. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.106.475525.
- 5 Cancer [online fact sheet]. Updated 3 March 2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 [https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer, accessed 14 May 2021].
- 6 Diabetes [online fact sheet]. Updated 13 April 2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 [https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes, accessed 14 May 2021].
- 7 Salt reduction [online fact sheet]. Updated 29 April 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/salt-reduction, accessed 18 July 2021].
- 8 Tobacco [online fact sheet]. Updated 27 May 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/tobacco, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 9 90% of lung cancers can be avoided by eliminating tobacco use, new WHO report reveals [online news report]. 29 May 2019. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2019 (https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/tobacco/news/ news/2019/5/90-of-lung-cancers-can-be-avoided-by-eliminating-tobacco-use,-newwho-report-reveals, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 10 National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (US) Office on Smoking and Health. The health consequences of smoking – 50 years of progress: a report of the surgeon general. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US); 2014. PMID: 24455788.
- 11 Ezzati M, Henley SJ, Thun MJ, Lopez AD. Role of smoking in global and regional cardiovascular mortality. Circulation. 2005;112(4):489–97. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.521708.
- 12 WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (https://www.who.int/fctc/cop/en, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 13 Alcohol [online fact sheet]. Updated 21 September 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/alcohol, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 14 Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 [https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/274603/9789241565639-eng.pdf, accessed 16 May 2021].
- 15 Kokkinos P, Sheriff H, Kheirbek R. Physical inactivity and mortality risk. Cardiol Res Pract. 2011;2011:924945. doi:10.4061/2011/924945.
- 16 Obesity and overweight [online fact sheet]. Updated 1 April 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-andoverweight, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 17 Mammadov J, Ibrahimov F, Ibrahimova A, Jamilova T. National Survey on Risk Factors for Chronic Noncommunicable Diseases in Azerbaijan 2011. Baku: Public Health and Reforms Center, Ministry of Health; 2012 (https://www.isim.az/upload/File/docs/ NCD_Survey_Report_Nov_2012.pdf, accessed 14 May 2021).

- 18 Lim SS, Vos T, Flaxman AD, Danaei G, Shibuya K, Adair-Rohani H et al. A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012;380(9859):2224–60. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61766-8.
- 19 Mean cholesterol. Global Health Observatory (GHO) data. Geneva: World Health Organization; [n.d.] (https://www.who.int/gho/ncd/risk_factors/cholesterol_mean_text/ en/#:~:text=Raised%20cholesterol%20increases%20the%20risks,or%202.0%25%20 of%20total%20DALYS, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 20 Azerbaijan: Global Youth Tobacco Survey 2011. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://extranet.who.int/ncdsmicrodata/index.php/catalog/499, accessed 17 May 2021).
- 21 Azerbaijan: Global Youth Tobacco Survey 2016. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://extranet.who.int/ncdsmicrodata/index.php/catalog/500, accessed 17 May 2021).
- 22 National Survey on Risk Factors for Chronic Noncommunicable Diseases in Azerbaijan 2011. Baku: The Ministry of Health of the Republic of Azerbaijan; 2016.
- 23 Azerbaijan Demographic and Health Survey 2006. Calverton (MD): State Statistical Committee/Macro International; 2008 (https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR195/FR195. pdf, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 24 Azerbaijan Demographic and Health Survey 2011. Baku: Public Health and Reforms Center, Ministry of Health; 2013 (http://ghdx.healthdata.org/record/azerbaijan-demographicand-health-survey-2011, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 25 Azerbaijan National Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Non-Communicable Diseases 2015–2020. Baku: Ministry of Health of Azerbaijan; 2015 (https://extranet. who.int/nutrition/gina/sites/default/filesstore/AZE%202015%20NCD%20AZERBAIJAN. pdf, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 26 Gaining health: the European Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2006 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/107787, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 27 Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of NCDs 2013–2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241506236, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 28 "Azerbaijan 2020: Look Into the future" concept of development. Baku: Government of the Republic of Azerbaijan; 2020 (https://president.az/files/future_en.pdf, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 29 Law of 29 December 2017, "On restriction of tobacco use". Baku: Government of the Republic of Azerbaijan; 2017 (https://president.az/articles/26671, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 30 Tobacco control fact sheet: Azerbaijan. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2017 [https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/337428/Tobacco-Control-Fact-Sheet-Azerbaijan.pdf, accessed 16 May 2021].
- 31 Abe SK, Stickley A, Roberts B, Richardson E, Abbott P, Rotman D et al. Changing patterns of fruit and vegetable intake in countries of the former Soviet Union. Public Health Nutr. 2013;16(11):1924–32. doi:10.1017/S1368980013001316.
- 32 Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries and Risk Factors Study 2010. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.
- 33 WHO STEPS instrument (core and expanded): the WHO STEPwise approach to chronic disease risk factor surveillance. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who. int/ncds/surveillance/steps/instrument/STEPS_Instrument_V3.2.pdf).
- 34 Raised total cholesterol. Global Health Observatory (GHO) Data Repository (European Region). Geneva: World Health Organization; [n.d.] (https://apps.who.int/gho/data/node. main-euro.A884?lang=en, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 35 Package of essential noncommunicable (PEN) disease interventions for primary health care in low-resource settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 .



The WHO Regional Office for Europe

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health. The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

Member States

Albania Andorra Armenia Austria Azerbaijan Belarus Belgium Bosnia and Herzegovina Bulgaria Croatia Croatia Cyprus Czechia Denmark Estonia Finland France Georgia Germany Greece Hungary Iceland Ireland Israel Italy Kazakhstan Kyrgyzstan Latvia Lithuania Luxembourg Malta Monaco Montenegro Netherlands North Macedonia Norway Poland Portugal Republic of Moldova Romania Russian Federation San Marino Serbia Slovakia Slovakia Slovenia Spain Sweden Switzerland Tajikistan Turkey Turkmenistan Ukraine United Kingdom

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

UN City, Marmorvej 51 DK-2100, Copenhagen Ø, Denmark Tel.: +45 45 33 70 00 Fax: +45 45 33 70 01 Email: eurocontact@who.int Website: www.euro.who.int

WHO/EUR0:2021-4673-44436-62812